# Uncovering the 'sphinx' of sphingosine 1-phosphate signalling: from cellular events to organ morphogenesis

Mengqiao Cui<sup>1</sup>, Verena Göbel<sup>2</sup> and Hongjie Zhang<sup>1,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Centre of Reproduction, Development and Aging, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Macau, Taipa, Macau SAR, 999078, China <sup>2</sup>Mucosal Immunology and Biology Research Center, Department of Pediatrics, Massachusetts General Hospital and Harvard Medical School,

Boston, MA, 02114, U.S.A.

<sup>3</sup>MoE Frontiers Science Center for Precision Oncology, University of Macau, Taipa, Macau SAR, 999078, China

### ABSTRACT

Sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) is a bioactive sphingolipid metabolite, functioning as a signalling molecule in diverse cellular processes. Over the past few decades, studies of S1P signalling have revealed that the physiological activity of S1P largely depends on S1P metabolizing enzymes, transporters and receptors on the plasma membrane, as well as on the intracellular proteins that S1P binds directly to. In addition to its roles in cancer signalling, immunity and inflammation, a large body of evidence has identified a close link of S1P signalling with organ morphogenesis. Here we discuss the vital role of S1P signalling in orchestrating various cellular events during organ morphogenesis through analysing each component along the extracellular and intracellular S1P signalling axes. For each component, we review advances in our understanding of S1P signalling and function from the upstream regulators to the downstream effectors and from cellular behaviours to tissue organization, primarily in the context of morphogenetic mechanisms. S1P-mediated vesicular trafficking is also discussed as a function independent of its signalling function. A picture emerges that reveals a multifaceted role of S1P-dependent pathways in the development and maintenance of organ structure and function.

Key words: sphingosine 1-phosphate, signal transduction, extracellular mode, intracellular mode, membrane dynamics, organ morphogenesis

### CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	
II.	Role of S1P metabolism in organ morphogenesis	
	(1) S1P biosynthetic enzymes – sphingosine kinases (SPHKS)	
	(2) S1P catabolic enzymes	
	(a) S1P phosphatases (SPPS)	
	$(\vec{b})$ S1P lyase (S1PL) $(\vec{b})$ $(\vec$	
	(c) Lipid phosphate phosphatases (LPPS)	
III.	Role of extracellular S1P signalling in organ morphogenesis	
	(1) S1P transporters	
	(a) ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters	
	(b) S1P transporter spinster homolog 2 (SPNS2)	
	(c) Major facilitator superfamily transporters (MFSD2A and MFSD2B)	
	(2) S1P receptors	
	(a) S1PR1	
	(b) S1PR2	

\* Address for correspondence (Tel: +853 8822 4518; E-mail: hjzhang@um.edu.mo)

Biological Reviews 97 (2022) 251–272 © 2021 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

$(a) S1PR4 \dots 20$	64				
$\langle \dot{a} \rangle$ S1DD 5					
(e) 511 KJ	54				
IV. Role of intracellular S1P signalling in organ morphogenesis	65				
(1) Cytoplasmic targets	65				
(a) TNF receptor-associated factor 2 (TRAF2), HSP90α and GRP94	65				
(b) Atypical protein kinase C (APKC) 20	65				
(c) $\beta$ -site amyloid precursor protein cleaving enzyme-1 (BACE1)	65				
(d) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARγ)	66				
(2) Nuclear targets	66				
(a) Histone deacetylases (HDACs)	66				
(b) Human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT)	66				
(3) Mitochondrial targets – prohibitin 2 (PHB2)	66				
V. Role of S1P-mediated vesicular trafficking in organ morphogenesis	66				
VI. Conclusions	67				
/II. Acknowledgements					
/III. References					

# I. INTRODUCTION

Sphingolipids are essential lipid components making up the external leaflet of biological membranes in eukaryotic cells. While the majority of sphingolipids function as structural molecules by forming microdomains in the plasma membrane, some metabolites of sphingolipids such as sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P), act as a signalling molecule present at extremely low abundance (Hannun & Obeid, 2018). S1P can be derived from *de novo* biosynthesis or from the salvage pathway of sphingolipid metabolism. As depicted in Fig. 1, de novo sphingolipid biosynthesis starts from the condensation reaction of serine and palmitoyl CoA catalysed by serine palmitoyltransferases at the cytosolic leaflet of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), leading to generation of ceramide (Futerman & Riezman, 2005; Hannun & Obeid, 2008; Breslow & Weissman, 2010). De novo synthesis also occurs in mitochondria with ceramide generated on both the outer and inner membranes of mitochondria (Bionda et al., 2004). Ceramide, the central hub of the sphingolipid network, can be deacylated into sphingosine and then phosphorylated by sphingosine kinases (SPHKs) to generate S1P or transported to the Golgi apparatus to generate ceramide 1-phosphate, sphingomyelin or glucosylceramide and more complex glycosphingolipids (Futerman & Riezman, 2005). In the salvage pathway, ceramide is generated through degradation of sphingomyelin or glucosylceramide before converting to sphingosine, which occurs primarily in the lysosome and also on the plasma membrane (Hannun & Obeid, 2008). S1P is metabolized either through a dephosphorylation pathway by lipid phosphate phosphatases (LPPs) on the plasma membrane or S1P phosphatases (SPPs) at the ER to generate sphingosine, or through a degradation pathway by S1P lyase (S1PL) to generate long-chain aldehyde and phosphoethanolamine.

S1P can exert signalling functions through extracellular and intracellular modes (Spiegel & Milstien, 2003; Takabe *et al.*, 2008; Maceyka *et al.*, 2012). In an extracellular mode, S1P is transported outside of cells via ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters or major facilitator superfamily transporters, and selectively binds to G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), which in turn triggers a cascade of downstream signalling pathways. Alternatively, S1P can act directly on some intracellular targets or as a membrane constituent to mediate coordinated cellular activities. Unlike growth factors and cytokines, lipid mediators are not encoded directly by the genome, thus the physiological activity of S1P is regulated by the spatiotemporal control of S1P biosynthesizing and metabolizing enzymes, transporters, receptors, and intracellular targets. S1P functions as a key signalling molecule in myriad cellular events, including cell proliferation, differentiation, adhesion, migration and death (Spiegel, Foster & Kolesnick, 1996; Spiegel & Milstien, 2003), all of which contribute to the development of various organs (Mendelson, Evans & Hla, 2014). Recently, new conceptual advances have underscored the plurality of the signalling events and effectors through which S1P acts during organ morphogenesis and delineated the exquisite specificity with which S1P targets selected receptors or intracellular modules for signalling. Herein, we provide an updated review on how S1P contributes to various cellular behaviours as well as their subsequent assembly into tissues, with a focus on the latest insights into the impact of intersecting signal transduction pathways underlying the coordinated cellular events for organ development. We discuss findings associated with the role of S1P in organ morphogenesis through its extracellular and intracellular actions as well as through membrane trafficking. For specific aspects of the importance of S1P in physiological processes or pathogenesis and therapeutic intervention of various disease conditions, including cancer, inflammation and fibrosis, the reader is referred to several excellent reviews (Pyne & Pyne, 2010; Spiegel & Milstien, 2011; Maceyka et al., 2012; Kunkel et al., 2013; Maceyka & Spiegel, 2014; Proia & Hla, 2015; Pyne, Adams & Pyne, 2016; Huwiler & Zangemeister-Wittke, 2018; Ogretmen, 2018; Cartier & Hla, 2019).



**Fig 1.** Overview of compartmentalized sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) metabolism and inside–out signalling. S1P can be produced from *de novo* biosynthesis or from the salvage pathway of sphingolipid metabolism. In *de novo* sphingolipid biosynthesis, the condensation of serine and palmitoyl-CoA at the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) generates ceramide (Cer), which can be converted to sphingosine (Sph) and then phosphorylated to S1P by sphingosine kinases (SPHKs). Ceramide can also be transported to Golgi to generate ceramide 1-phosphate (C1P), sphingomyelin (SM) or glucosylceramide (GSL). In the salvage pathway, ceramide is generated through degradation of SM or GSL before converting to Sph and subsequently S1P, which occurs primarily in the lysosome. SPHK1 catalyses phosphorylation of Sph mainly at the cell plasma membrane (PM), and its translocation from the nucleus to the PM is driven by agonists through an extracellular signal-related kinase (ERK) and Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent SPHK1 phosphorylation. SPHK2 functions at the nucleus, ER and mitochondria, and its nuclear export depends on phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) and protein kinase D (PKD)-mediated SPHK2 phosphorylation. The nuclear export of both SPHK1 and SPHK2 also depends on chromosomal region maintenance 1 (CRM1). Intracellular S1P is eventually degraded by either S1P lyase (SPL) or S1P phosphatases (SPPs). Extracellular S1P is dephosphorylated to sphingosine by lipid phosphate phosphatases (LPPs) localized at the PM. S1P induces a series of signalling pathways by activating S1P receptors after being exported outside cells by transporters, or by directly binding with intracellular protein targets.

# II. ROLE OF S1P METABOLISM IN ORGAN MORPHOGENESIS

SPHK-generated S1P can function as a ligand of GPCRs, as a second messenger and in directing membrane dynamics (Fig. 2). In this section and Section III, we explore the molecular, cellular and tissue-level events that define S1P as a paracrine factor in organ morphogenesis primarily through regulating its biosynthesis, catabolism and transport (Fig. 2A; Table 1). The function of S1P as a second messenger (Fig. 2B) and the roles of SPHK/S1P in membrane trafficking (Fig. 2C) will be discussed in Sections IV and V, respectively.

### (1) S1P biosynthetic enzymes – sphingosine kinases (SPHKs)

S1P is biosynthesized by SPHKs through the phosphorylation of sphingosine, and SPHKs are conserved across diverse organisms (Spiegel & Milstien, 2007). There are two isoforms, SPHK1 and SPHK2, in mammals, each displaying distinct yet overlapping functions in a subcellular compartment-dependent manner (Fig. 1). SPHK1 is predominantly localized in the cytoplasm and SPHK2 in the nucleus, although they can both shuttle between the nucleus and cytoplasm in a cis-regulatory element [the nuclear export signal (NES)] sequence- and trans-acting factor [nuclear export receptor chromosomal region maintenance 1 (CRM1)]-dependent manner (Inagaki et al., 2003; Ding et al., 2007). Interestingly, SPHK1 can translocate to the plasma membrane driven by numerous agonists [such as cytokines, growth factors and phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA)] and proteins (such as calcium and integrin-binding protein 1 and filamin A) through inducing extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)-dependent SPHK1 phosphorylation in a Ca<sup>2+</sup>/camodulin dependent manner (Pitson et al., 2003; Maceyka et al., 2008; Jarman et al., 2010) (Fig. 1). The export of SPHK2 to cytoplasm depends on PMA-induced, protein kinase D-mediated SPHK2 phosphorylation (Ding et al., 2007). SPHK2 is also present in mitochondria, ER and other intracellular phosphoinositide-associated compartments (Don & Rosen, 2009; Strub et al., 2011), suggesting an even greater diversity of functions.



Fig 2. Role of sphingosine kinase (SPHK)-mediated sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) signalling in organ morphogenesis. (A) Extracellular mode: activation of SPHK1 by hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), nitric oxide (NO), LIM-domain only 2 (Lmo2) and tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ) promotes S1P generation and subsequent export via transporters. Extracelluar S1P elicits signals through S1P receptors (S1PRs) to stimulate cell migration, stabilize cell adhesion and inhibit cell apoptosis. These cellular events are involved in organ morphogenesis including angiogenesis, bone morphogenesis, neurogenesis and heart development. Akt, protein kinase B; ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinase; JNK, c-Jun N-terminal kinase; NF-κB, nuclear factor kappa light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells; PI3K, phosphoinositide 3-kinase; SAPK, stress-activated protein kinase. (B) Intracellular mode: S1P binds to intracellular targets in different cellular compartments. In the cytoplasm, SPHK1-generated S1P directly binds to the E3 ligases TNF receptor-associated factor 2 (TRAF2) and cIAP2, promotes receptor interacting protein 1 (RIP1) and interferon regulatory factor 1 (IRF1) polyubiquitination, and activates the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway and IRF1-responsive genes, respectively. Upon endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress the S1P-TRAF2-RIP1 complex can associate with the stress-responsive proteins, heat shock protein  $90\alpha$  (HSP90 $\alpha$ ), heat shock protein  $90\beta$  family member 1 (GRP94) and ER to nucleus signalling  $1\alpha$ (IRE1a). S1P also binds with atypical protein kinase C (aPKC),  $\beta$ -site amyloid precursor protein cleaving enzyme-1 (BACE1) and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma$  (PPAR $\gamma$ ) to protect the cell from apoptosis, to stimulate amyloid- $\beta$  peptide (A $\beta$ ) production (the main cause of Alzheimer's disease) and to promote tube formation in angiogenesis, respectively. In the nucleus, SPHK2-generated S1P forms a co-repressor complex with histone deacetylases (HDACs) and reduces HDAC activity. Reduced HDAC activity increases histone acetylation and regulates gene expression. S1P binding to nuclear human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) contributes to inhibition of telomere damage and senescence, thus promoting cell proliferation. In mitochondria, SPHK2-generated S1P binds to prohibitin 2 (PHB2) to regulate respiration, cardioprotection, ER stress and apoptosis. IL-1, interleukin 1; Ub, ubiquitin. (C) Vesicular trafficking; SPHK1 regulates membrane trafficking. Upon activation, SPHK1 targets to endocytic tubular invagination and Ras-related protein (Rab5)-positive endosomes. SPHK1/S1P-mediated endocytic trafficking also converges with autophagy. SPHK1 enhances autophagy biogenesis and function, and autophagy, in turn, stimulates SPHK1 re-localization to the endosome/autophagosome. SPHK1 is also localized to the membrane in a muscarinic acetylcholine receptor (GAR-3)-induced calcium signalling-dependent manner for release of acetylcholine. Ga, heterotrimeric G protein alpha subunit; TrioGEF, triple functional domain protein guanine nucleotide exchange factor.

SPHKs exert a series of cellular functions required for organ morphogenesis through generating S1P (Fig. 2A). First, SPHKs regulate cell migration in diverse cell types. For example, SPHK1 promotes cell motility in human lung microvascular endothelial cells (HLMVECs) through hepatocyte growth factor (HGF)-induced ERK1/2-mediated SPHK-1 phosphorylation and accumulation at the cell periphery. SPHK1 co-localizes with actin and cortactin in lamellipodia at the cell periphery where locally generated S1P is transported extracellularly *via* S1P transporter spinster homolog 2 (SPNS2) and signals as a paracrine factor through S1P receptor 1 (S1PR1) to direct cell migration (Laurenzana *et al.*, 2015; Fu *et al.*, 2016). SPHK1 can be activated by nitric oxide (NO) leading to S1P upregulation, and subsequently induces migration of human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) and triggers tube formation for angiogenesis *via* 

Enzyme	Organism	Organs affected	Cellular events mediated	Signaling involved	References
SPP1	Mouse	Skin	Regulates keratinocyte differentiation and epidermal homeostasis	Ca <sup>2+</sup> signalling	Allende et al. (2013)
SPP2	Mouse	Pancreas	Regulates islet β-cell differentiation and protects cells from ER stress		Taguchi et al. (2016)
	Mouse and human	Intestine	Promotes disruption of mucosal barrier function	_	Huang et al. (2016)
S1PL	Drosophila melanogaster	Muscle and reproductive system	Regulate cell apoptosis	reaper, hid and grim	Herr <i>et al.</i> (2003) Phan <i>et al.</i> (2007)
	Caenorhabditis elegans	Reproductive system and intestine	_	_	Mendel et al. (2003)
	Mouse	Lung, heart, bone, thymus and nervous system	Bone: suppresses osteoclastogenesis and stimulates osteoblastogenesis Nervous system: regulates cell apoptosis	Bone: calcitonin; p38–GSK3β–β- catenin; WNT5A–LRP5 Nervous system: Ca <sup>2+</sup> signalling; calpain, caspases; CDK5	Vogel et al. (2009); Keller et al. (2014); Weske et al. (2018, 2019); Hagen et al. (2011)
LPP1	Mouse	Hair and reproductive system	_	_	Yue et al. (2004)
LPP3	Mouse	Angiogenesis, vasculogenesis and axis patterning	Regulates vasculogenesis and axis patterning	WNT signalling; β-catenin- mediated TCF transcription	Escalante-Alcalde <i>et al.</i> (2003)
	Xenopus laevis	Axis patterning	_	WNT signalling	

Table 1. Roles of sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) catabolism in organ morphogenesis

CDK5, cyclin-dependent kinase 5; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; GSK3β, glycogen synthase kinase 3β; LPP, lipid phosphate phosphatase; LRP5, lipoprotein receptor-related protein; p38, mitogen-activated protein kinase 14, also known as MAPK14; SPP, S1P phosphatase; S1PL, S1P lyase; TCF, transcription factor; WNT, wingless-related integration site.

S1PR3 (Schwalm, Pfeilschifter & Huwiler, 2010). SPHK1-mediated endothelial cell (EC) migration is also subject to regulation by the transcription factor LIM-domain only 2 (Lmo2) which binds directly to the SPHK1 promoter and regulates SPHK1 expression as well as EC migration and vascular development in the HUVEC cell line, and mouse and zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) models (Fig. 3) (Matrone *et al.*, 2017). Moreover, SPHK1/S1P-induced protein kinase B (Akt/Pkb) phosphorylation enhances hepatic stellate cell (HSC) migration and fibrogenesis in a fibronectin–integrinand dynamin-dependent manner (Wang *et al.*, 2015, 2017).

Both SPHK1 and SPHK2 also promote migration and capillary morphogenesis of human mesenchymal progenitor mesoangioblasts (Laurenzana *et al.*, 2015). While mounting evidence has pinpointed a positive role of SPHK/S1P in positively regulating cell motility, SPHK2 was reported to suppress cell migration in renal mesangial cells and fibroblasts (from SPHK2-knockout mice) through ERK and phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt cascades and the small G protein rat sarcoma (Ras) homolog family member A (RhoA) (Schwalm *et al.*, 2015). These seemingly conflicting results are probably attributable to a compensatory upregulation of SPHK1 and S1PR3 in SPHK2 knockout cells, eventually leading to a net increase in S1P signalling (Schwalm *et al.*, 2015).

SPHK/S1P also functions to protect cells from apoptosis. SPHK/S1P was first discovered to suppress ceramidemediated programmed cell death through stimulating the ERK pathway, counteracting the ceramide-induced activation of stress-activated protein kinase (SAPK/INK) in human promyelocytic HL-60 cells, U937 monoblastic leukemia cells and Swiss 3T3 cells (Cuvillier et al., 1996). A suppression effect of SPHK1 on ceramide-mediated apoptosis was also confirmed in NIH 3T3 fibroblasts, HEK 293 cells and Jurkat T cells (Olivera et al., 1999). In HUVECs, SPHK1 overexpression activates the PI3K/Akt pathway, upregulates the anti-apoptotic protein B-cell lymphoma 2 (BCL2) and down-regulates the proapoptotic protein BCL2 interacting mediator of cell death (BIM) in a platelet EC adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM1)-dependent manner, thereby leading to enhanced EC survival (Limaye et al., 2005). Consistently, overexpression of SPHK2 activates autophagy through directly interacting with BCL2 via its BH3 domain and subsequently dissociating it from Beclin-1, and thereby increases murine neural cell viability upon ischemic injury (Song et al., 2017). Similar to the opposing effects of SPHK1 and SPHK2 on migration, other studies have suggested an opposite function for SPHK2 in inducing apoptosis and suppressing proliferation (Liu et al., 2003; Okada et al., 2005). For example, in renal mesangial cells derived from SPHK2

Biological Reviews 97 (2022) 251–272 © 2021 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

transgenic mouse, SPHK2 overexpression suppresses proliferation and promotes stress-induced apoptosis, probably through reducing ERK and Akt activation and antiapoptotic B-cell lymphoma-extra large (BCL-XL) expression and increasing caspase-9 activity (Beyer *et al.*, 2018), whereas SPHK2 knockout enhances proliferation and protects the renal mesangial cells from stress-induced apoptosis (Schwalm *et al.*, 2015). Although this discrepancy may be partially ascribable to compensatory effects of two SPHKs as discussed above for migration, diverse other factors, including distinct subcellular localizations of the two SPHK isoforms, the intracellular or extracellular action mode of S1P, as well as cell type, cell state and culture conditions may also be contributing factors, with a detailed explanation awaiting further exploration.

SPHKs are a potent regulator for cell adhesion. Stimulation of activity of SPHKs in ECs by tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ) enhances ERK and nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-kB) signalling and increases vascular adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) and



Endothelial cell

(Figure legend continues on next page.)

E-selectin expression (Xia *et al.*, 1998), whereas inhibition of SPHK1 reduces adiponectin-induced activation of NF-kB signalling and thereby decreases the expression of adhesion proteins including VCAM-1, intracellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), E-selectin and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) in vascular ECs (Kase *et al.*, 2007).

Blood vessel development involves the *de novo* formation of a primitive vascular network from the differentiated ECs (vasculogenesis) followed by vascular sprouting and remodelling into a complex network (angiogenesis) (Masuda & Asahara, 2003; Rafii & Lyden, 2003). Specifically, angiogenesis relies on orchestrated activity of migration of tip cells leading the vascular forefront and proliferation of stalk cells elongating the sprout as well as survival of phalanx cells lining quiescent vessels (Fig. 3A) (Vandekeere, Dewerchin & Carmeliet, 2015). Thus, S1P-mediated EC migration, proliferation, survial and adhesion contribute directly to blood vessel development. Consistently, although single knockout mice are superficially normal due to redundant function of the two SPHKs, double SPHK1- and SPHK2-knockout mice cannot survive past the embryonic stage with severely disrupted neurogenesis and angiogenesis, at least in part due to increased cell death and decreased cell proliferation (Mizugishi et al., 2005; Michaud et al., 2006; Xiong et al., 2014). Red blood cell (RBC)-specific depletion of SPHK1 and SPHK2 in mice also leads to early embryonic lethality accompanied by vascular and cardiac defects, which can be partially rescued upon S1PR1 activation (Xiong et al., 2014), highlighting an important role of erythrocytederived S1P in vascular development.

S1P is strictly required in cardiac development. Reducing S1P levels through dimethylsphingosine treatment led to loss of heart cellularity and cardiac cushions in whole-mouse embryo culture, and increasing S1P levels through exogenous supplement inhibited cell migration and blocked endothelial to mesenchymal transformation in atrioventricular canal culture (Wendler & Rivkees, 2006). As further evidence for the role of S1P in heart development, a maternal-zygotic *sphk2* mutant, but not a maternal-zygotic *sphk1* mutant or maternal *sphk2* mutant, display a defect in cardiac progenitor migration and thereby cardia bifida in zebrafish (Hisano *et al.*, 2015), a similar phenotype to that observed in mutants of the S1P transporter SPNS2 and S1P receptor S1PR2 (Kupperman *et al.*, 2000; Kawahara *et al.*, 2009).

A study using bone marrow-derived macrophage (BMM) single- and BMM/osteoblast co-culture systems revealed a vital role of SPHK1/S1P signalling in bone development. Throughout bone development, maintaining balanced bone remodelling between osteoclast-mediated bone resorbing and osteoblast-dependent bone formation is essential (Fig. 4A). SPHK-S1P plays a dichotomous role in this process. Extracellular S1P secreted from osteoclast precursor cells promotes osteoblastogenesis as well as migration and survival of osteoblasts by cyclooxygenase-2 (COX2) and prostaglandin E2 (PGE2)-induced receptor activator of NFkB ligand (RANKL) upregulation through modulation of p38 and ERK activities in osteoblasts, whereas intracelluar S1P produced upon RANKL-mediated SPHK1 activation negatively regulates the osteoclast differentiation program in the absence of osteoblasts by inhibiting the downstream signals p38/FBJ osteosarcoma oncogene (c-Fos)/nuclear factor of activated T cells 1 (NFATc1) (Fig. 4B) (Ryu et al., 2006).

Taken together, through shuttling among the nucleus, cytoplasm and cell membranes, SPHK1 and SPHK2 function to promote cell migration, proliferation, differentiation and adhesion and to suppress apoptosis, which in turn, contribute to the development of diverse organs/tissues

<sup>(</sup>Figure legend continued from previous page.)

Fig 3. Sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) signalling in angiogenesis. (A) Angiogenesis is the growth of new blood vessels through sprouting, branching and pruning of pre-existing blood vessels. Angiogenesis is regulated by balanced signalling between S1P and the angiogenic growth factor vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) through S1P receptors (S1PRs) and VEGF receptors (VEGFRs), respectively. In response to the combined regulation of the signalling depicted here as well as many other factors (not shown due to a lack of evidence for a direct link with S1P), the tip cells migrate to direct sprouting, the stalk cells proliferate to enable lumenogenesis and the phalanx cells remain quiescent to stabilize the single-cell epithelial layer during angiogenesis. Note that S1PR1 is activated not only by blood-derived S1P but also by biomechanical signals [laminar shear stress (LSS)]. (B) S1P is generated in endothelial cells by sphingosine kinase 1 (SPHK1), whose activity is subject to regulation by various factors, including hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) through extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK1/2)-mediated SPHK1 phosphorylation, nitric oxide and transcription factor LIM-domain only 2 (Lmo2). SPHK1-generated S1P is exported by S1P transporter spinster homolog 2 (SPNS2) and functions as a paracrine factor to trigger signalling pathways for angiogenesis through G protein-coupled S1PRs. S1PR1 stabilizes cell adhesion and cytoskeleton through rat sarcoma (Ras)-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate (Rac) and Ras homolog family member (Rho), promotes cell migration [in a phospholipase C (PLC)/Ca2+-dependent manner], and endothelial cell survival and vessel sprouting (via activating Ras/ERK). S1PR1 also functions to suppress hypersprouting by (1) inhibiting LSS-dependent VEGF/VEGFR signalling; (2) generating a spatial gradient of Jun B proto-oncogene (JunB) together with S1PR2 and S1PR3 for endothelial cell specialization. The JunB gradient is generated through inducing JunB expression at the sprouting vascular region via VEGF/VEGFR2, and suppressing JunB expression in the nascent vascular network via vascular endothelial (VE)-cadherin, which, in turn, down-regulates a subset of Norrin/wingless-related integration site (Wnt)/β-cateninregulated genes. In contrast to S1PR1, S1PR2 inhibits cell migration by downregulating Rac. S1PR3 stabilizes cell adhesion and stress fibre formation via Rho, and stimulates cell migration and proliferation [through lymphatic vessel endothelial HA receptor (LYVE-1)/Src proto-oncogene kinase (SrcK)/ERK signalling] as well as vessel sprouting (via mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase (MEK)/ERK signalling).  $G_i$ ,  $G_{12/13}$  and  $G_g$ , heterotrimeric G protein alpha subunits.



**Fig 4.** Sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) signalling in bone morphogenesis. (A) Bone morphogenesis involves a highly dynamic regulation of bone resorption and formation by osteoclasts (OCs) and osteoblasts (OBs). Extracellular S1P secreted from osteoclast precursor cells promotes circulation of OCs between blood and bone through S1P receptor 1 (S1PR1)-directed OCs migrating away from bone and S1PR2-mediated OCs migrating towards bone. (B) Osteoclastogenesis is inhibited by both extracellular S1P signalling [through S1PR2/wingless-related integration site (Wnt)/lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5 (Lrp5) and S1PR2/ glycogen synthase kinase  $3\beta$  (GSK $3\beta$ )/ $\beta$ -catenin-induced osteoprotegrin upregulation] and intracellular S1P signalling [through negative regulation of the p38/FBJ osteosarcoma oncogene (c-Fos)/nuclear factor of activated T cells 1 (NFATc1) pathway]. Extracellular S1P secreted from OCs [negatively regulated by calcitonin (CT) and calcitonin receptor (CTR)] promotes the migration and survival of OBs by cyclooxygenase-2 (COX2) and prostaglandin E2 (PGE2)-induced receptor activator of NF- $\kappa$ B ligand (RANKL) upregulation through modulating activities of p38 and extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) in OBs. RANKL secreted from OBs binds with RANK in OCs and activates SPHK1, which, together with S1P lyase (S1PL), in turn regulates S1P metabolism. In addition, S1PR1- and S1PR2-mediated S1P signalling stimulates osteoblastogenesis by regulating osterix/peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma$  (PPAR $\gamma$ ) and cathepsin K, respectively. MEK, mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase; SPNS2, S1P transporter spinster homolog.

including neurogenesis and angiogenesis, bone remodelling and cardiac development (Fig. 2A).

### (2) S1P catabolic enzymes

S1P can be metabolized by three types of enzymes: SPPs, S1PL and LPPs. SPPs and S1PL are located at the ER with

their active sites facing the luminal and cytosolic sides, respectively; thus they function to degrade intracellular S1P (Kihara *et al.*, 2003; Ikeda, Kihara & Igarashi, 2004). LPP enzymes are located on the plasma membrane with the active site facing outside the cell and are mainly responsible for degradation of S1P in extracellular media (Kai *et al.*, 2006) (Fig. 1).

#### (a) S1P phosphatases (SPPs)

SPPs are responsible for turning S1P into sphingosine by dephosphorylation. Mammalian SPP has two isoforms, SPP1 and SPP2 (encoded by genes Sgpp1 and Sgpp2, respectively). Mouse SPP1 is expressed in various tissues, and SPP2 is mainly expressed in the stomach, colon and intestine (Johnson et al., 2003; Huang et al., 2016). Knockdown of Sgpp1 leads to intracellular accumulation of S1P and increased secretion of S1P into media, and consequently, increased resistance to cytotoxic agents such as  $TNF\alpha$  and daunorubicin (Johnson et al., 2003). By contrast, SPP1-overexpressing cells upon S1P supplementation display accumulation of ceramide in ER and resulting defects in transporting proteins from ER to Golgi (Giussani et al., 2006). In vivo studies have revealed that SPP1 and SPP2 have distinct functions. Sgpp1-knockout mice exhibit neonatal lethality and abnormal skin characterized by desquamation and epidermal hyperplasia. Keratinocytes derived from the skin of  $Sgpp1^{-/-}$  mice show increased intracellular levels of S1P and Ca<sup>2+</sup>, as well as upregulation of genes involved in keratinocyte differentiation, demonstrating an essential role of SPP1 in keratinocyte differentiation and epidermal homeostasis through mediating  $Ca^{2+}$  signalling (Allende *et al.*, 2013). In contrast to  $Sgpp1^{-/-}$  mice,  $Sgpp2^{-/-}$  mice are viable into adulthood and have normal skin. Instead they exhibit defects in adaptive proliferation and elevated ER stress in pancreatic islet  $\beta$ -cells, revealing SPP2 as an important factor linking S1P-mediated ER stress with dysfunction of  $\beta$ -cells and pathogenesis of diabetes (Taguchi et al., 2016). In mice and humans, SPP2, but not SPP1, promotes mucosal integrity disruption and contributes to the pathogenesis of colitis in the gastrointestinal tract. Down-regulation of SPP2 attenuated lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced paracellular permeability in cultured cells and enhanced expression of the adherens junction protein E-cadherin (Huang et al., 2016).

# (b) S1P lyase (S1PL)

S1PL catalyses the cleavage of S1P at the C2–C3 carbon– carbon bond to generate phosphoethanolamine and hexadecenal, both of which are precursors of glycerophospholipids (Le Stunff et al., 2002). Conceivably, S1PL activity affects not only S1P metabolism, but also the conversion of sphingolipid to glycerophospholipid. S1PL is expressed highly in the small intestine, thymus and spleen, moderately in the liver, kidney, lung, stomach and testis, and barely in the brain, heart and skeletal muscle of the mouse and rat (Ikeda et al., 2004). S1PL is essential during development in various animals. In Drosophila melanogaster, null mutation (sply<sup>05091</sup>) of sply (encoding Drosophila S1PL) causes a wide range of developmental defects including larval lethality, abnormal dorsal longitudinal flight muscles, altered reproductive structures and elevated apoptosis in both embryo and gonad (Herr et al., 2003; Phan et al., 2007). These phenotypes are suppressed by either reducing sphingolipid intermediates via a second-site mutation in the serine palmitoyltransferase subunit lace/SPTLC2 (lace<sup>k05305</sup>) or by genetic disruption of the proapoptotic genes *reaper*, *hid and grim*, revealing the convergence of cell apoptosis and sphingolipid metabolism in S1PL-mediated organ development and growth (Phan et al., 2007). In Caenorhabditis elegans, inhibition of S1PL (encoded by *spl-1*) caused poor feeding, delayed growth, and reproductive and intestinal defects due to accumulation of phosphorylated and unphosphorylated long-chain bases (Mendel et al., 2003). Sgpl1-deficient mice exhibited developmental abnormalities and lethality during the perinatal period (Vogel et al., 2009), which can be partially rescued by expression of human S1PL. Moreover, global *Sgpl1* deficiency leads to a high-bone-turnover phenotype with increased osteoclastogenesis and bone mass in newborn mice (Keller et al., 2014). Interestingly, deletion or inhibition of S1PL in adult mice suppresses osteoclastogenesis and stimulates osteobalstogenesis, thereby phenocopying the high-bone-mass phenotype observed in newborn global Sgpl1knockout mice, as well as successfully rescuing severe genetic osteoporosis caused by osteoprotegerin deficiency (Weske et al., 2018, 2019). These data demonstrated a role of S1P signalling in osteoanabolic and antiresorptive processes, consistent with a recognized positive role of S1P in bone formation through in vitro study of SPHKs. In the nervous system of Sgpl1-deficient mice, S1P induces neuronal death through triggering intracellular calcium signalling, which, in turn, induces a calpain-mediated ER stress-specific caspase cascade and activates the cyclin-dependent kinase CDK5 (Hagen et al., 2011).

#### (c) Lipid phosphate phosphatases (LPPs)

LPPs are integral membrane enzymes, and similar to SPPs, also function to metabolize S1P through dephosphorylation, although they have a wide range of substrates including phosphatidate, lysophosphatidate, ceramide 1-phosphate and diacylglycerol pyrophosphate in addition to S1P. Mammals have three isoforms of LPPs, LPP1, LPP2 and LPP3 (encoded by the genes *Ppap2a, Ppap2c* and *Ppap2b*, respectively). LPP1 and LPP3 are ubiquitously expressed in all tissues throughout development, and functional analyses have revealed essential roles of LPP3 in vasculogenesis and embryonic anterior–posterior axis patterning (Zhang, Sundberg & Gridley, 2000; Escalante-Alcalde *et al.*, 2003; Yue *et al.*, 2004; Panchatcharam *et al.*, 2013, 2014). However, the links between organ defects and altered S1P signalling await further investigation, given the wide range of LPP substrates.

In summary, S1P catabolic enzymes with spatially separated localization remove both intra- and extracellular S1P. S1P signalling mediated specifically through S1P catabolic enzymes is required for development of the pancreas, bone, neurons, and reproductive and vascular systems (Table 1).

# III. ROLE OF EXTRACELLULAR S1P SIGNALLING IN ORGAN MORPHOGENESIS

In extracellular S1P signalling, S1P must be exported extracellularly by transporters, and S1P elicits signals through the transmembrane protein GPCRs (Spiegel & Milstien, 2003).

Biological Reviews 97 (2022) 251–272 © 2021 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

### (1) S1P transporters

Multiple types of transporters, including ABC transporters and major facilitator superfamily transporters, participate in S1P export.

#### (a) ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters

ABC transporters play an important role in transporting lipids across the cell membrane, among which subfamily members ABCA1, ABCB1, ABCC1 and ABCG2 contribute to S1P export (Honig et al., 2003; Mitra et al., 2006; Sato et al., 2007; Gratschev et al., 2009; Kobayashi et al., 2009; Takabe et al., 2010; Japtok et al., 2012; Cartwright et al., 2013). ABCC1 has been widely investigated and shown to export S1P in diverse cell types (Mitra et al., 2006; Gratschev et al., 2009). In mouse brain and spinal cord ECs, abcc1-deficiency-derived failure in S1P efflux terminates inside-out S1P signalling to S1PR1, and abolishes the effects of S1P on basal P-glycoprotein transport activity in the blood-brain and blood-spinal cord barriers (Cartwright et al., 2013). Moreover, exposure of human fibroblasts to dexamethasone increases SPHK1 expression, stimulates intracellular biosynthesis of S1P and upregulates ABCC1 to transport S1P to initiate signalling through S1PR3, and hence exerts a pronounced anti-apoptotic action (Nieuwenhuis et al., 2009).

However, ABC transporters neither export S1P on their own in Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells nor participate in S1P export from erythroid cells (Hisano *et al.*, 2011; Kobayashi *et al.*, 2018), implicating cell-type-dependent S1P export activity.

#### (b) S1P transporter spinster homolog 2 (SPNS2)

SPNS2 is a major facilitator superfamily member and its role in exporting S1P was identified by *in vivo* study. In wild-type zebrafish, at the yolk syncytial stage, myocardial precursors migrate towards one site to form a single heart. However, in spns2 (ko157)-mutant zebrafish, myocardial precursors showed a migration defect accompanied by a cardia bifida phenotype (Osborne et al., 2008; Kawahara et al., 2009). Given that the cardia bifida phenotype was also observed in S1PR2-mutant animals (Kupperman et al., 2000), G<sub>13</sub>-deficient embryos and embryos expressing dominant-negative forms of Ras homologous guanine nucleotide exchange factor (RhoGEF, encoded by arhgef11) (Ye & Lin, 2013) and that interference with arhgef11 function suppresses the gastrulation defects caused by S1PR2 overexpression, it is proposed that S1P export from cells requires SPNS2 as a transporter and elicits signalling through S1PR2/G13/Rho during zebrafish myocardial migration (Fukui et al., 2014). A separate study showed that the cardia bifida phenotype was enhanced after overexpression of a lysophosphatidic acid (LPA)producing enzyme (autotaxin) in spns2-deficient zebrafish, indicating that LPA signalling coordinates with S1P signalling during cardiac development (Nakanaga et al., 2014). Moreover, SPNS2 also functions together with the cell adhesion molecule fibronectin in regulating cardiac progenitor migration and lower jaw development (Hisano et al., 2013). In zebrafish, the SPNS2–S1PR2 axis is associated with proper growth and positioning in jaw skeleton development by inducing signalling molecule expression in facial ectoderm necessary for jaw development (Balczerski *et al.*, 2012).

Consistent with the role of SPHK-mediated S1P signalling in blood vessel formation, SPNS2 cooperates with S1PR1 and S1PR2 in zebrafish to regulate angiogenesis during embryonic vascular patterning (Mendelson proper et al., 2013). Moreover, SPNS2 was identified as a S1P transporter in mouse vascular ECs (but not in erythrocytes and platelets) (Hisano et al., 2012). Additionally, Spns2-deficient mice showed hearing loss defects from 2 to 3 weeks after birth due to an early decline in endocochlear potential and progressive degeneration of hair cells in the organ of Corti (Chen et al., 2014). As another aspect of SPNS2-dependent S1P signalling function, Spns2-knockout mice are born with their eves open, and they display abnormal postnatal retinal morphogenesis with disrupted cell polarity, delayed cell-cycle exit of retinal progenitor cells and insufficient migration of newborn neurons, indicating an important role of S1P in postnatal retinal development (Bian et al., 2018). Mechanistically, S1P promotes eyelid closure by signalling through S1PR to activate ERK and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)-dependent mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase 1 (MEKK1)- Jun proto-oncogene (c-Jun) signalling and induce myocardin-related transcription factor A (MAL) nuclear translocation, which in turn induces metalloprotease signalling (ADAM10)/ADAM17-mediated EGFR 10 through upregulating expression of the microRNAs miR-21 and miR-22 (Bian et al., 2018). These data reveal diverse targets and mechanisms of S1P/SPNS2 during organ development in both zebrafish and mouse.

# (c) Major facilitator superfamily transporters (MFSD2A and MFSD2B)

Mfsd2a and Mfsd2b encode the transmembrane proteins major facilitator superfamily (MFS) domain-containing orphan transporters (MFSD2A and MFSD2B). Recent studies have shown that MFSD2A, but not MFSD2B, is required for the formation and maintenance of the blood-brain barrier in mouse brain, at least in part through its contribution to S1P export. MFSD2A does not transport S1P directly in brain ECs, however, MFSD2A binds S1P in the cell membrane and promotes S1P export by forming a protein complex with the major transporter SPNS2 (Wang et al., 2020), which in turn sustains an S1P-rich microenvironment in the extracellular matrix and consequently, blood-brain barrier integrity. Deficiency in Mfsd2a, but not Mfsd2b, leads to breakdown of the blood-brain barrier in mouse embryos and adults, probably due to altered permeability and transcytosis in the brain ECs.

MFSD2B is mainly expressed in red blood cells and platelets, and shows S1P export activity in erythroid cells and CHO cells (Kobayashi *et al.*, 2018). *Mfsd2b* knockout leads to a remarkable accumulation of S1P in red blood cells (RBCs) and reduction of plasma S1P in mice. This plasma S1P decrease does not affect blood vessel leakiness, but the mice become more sensitive to anaphylactic shock. *Mfsd2b*-knockout mice exhibit anaemia with reduced RBC count and are more anaemic under stress-induced erythropoiesis with RBCs showing membrane fragility and stomatocytosis. Thus, MFSD2B plays an important role in S1P export from red blood cells and platelets, and in maintaining the numbers and morphology of red blood cells (Vu *et al.*, 2017).

Overall, S1P transporters are major components that finetune S1P levels and gradient across the cell membrane to enable inside-out signalling, and function to regulate the development of the heart, jaw, vascular system, eye and auditory system.

#### (2) S1P receptors

Five GPCRs (S1PR1-5) contribute to S1P signalling transduction (Spiegel & Milstien, 2003). S1PR1/2/3 receptors are widely expressed in various tissues, whereas the expression of S1PR4 is mainly confined to lymphoid and haematopoietic tissue and that of S1PR5 to the central nervous system, indicating they have overlapping as well as specific physiological functions (Sanchez & Hla, 2004). GPCR is bound to the  $\alpha$ -subunit of a heterotrimeric G-protein (G<sub> $\alpha$ </sub>), shifting between inactive and active states through  $G_{\alpha}$  binding with guanosine diphosphate (GDP) and guanosine triphosphate (GTP).  $G_{\alpha}$  proteins are classified into four different isoforms: Gs, Gi, Gq, and G12/13 (Okashah et al., 2019). S1P receptors have distinct G-protein preferences, with S1PR1 coupling exclusively to G<sub>i</sub>, S1PR2 and S1PR3 to G<sub>i</sub>, G<sub>q</sub> and G<sub>12/13</sub>, and S1PR4 and S1PR5 to G<sub>i</sub> and  $G_{12/13}$  (Siehler & Manning, 2002). The functions of S1P receptors are summarized in Fig. 5, and their specific functions in angiogenesis and bone remodelling are depicted in Figs 3 and 4.

## (a) S1PR1

Similar to SPHKs, S1PR1 functions in angiogenesis/ vascular development through regulating cell adhesion, migration and survival in multiple in vitro angiogenesis models. In HUVECs, S1PR1 together with S1PR3 mediates S1P-induced cytoskeletal reorganization and adherens junction assembly via Rho/Rac as well as S1P-induced cell survival and morphogenesis through ERK signalling (Lee et al., 1999). S1P increases levels of N-cadherin and VE-cadherin, and decreases levels of angiopoietin 2 via S1PR1 in human retinal microvascular ECs (McGuire et al., 2011). S1P also prompts cell migration and capillary-like tube formation in various angiogenesis models including HUVECs, human muscle vascular ECs (HMVECs) and bovine aortic ECs (Wang et al., 1999; Laurenzana et al., 2015), in part through S1PR1/G<sub>i</sub>/phospholipase C (PLC)/Ca<sup>2+</sup> signalling pathways in human lymphatic ECs (Yoon et al., 2008). Matrigel plug assays in mice revealed that S1PR1/S1P stimulates outgrowth of new blood vessels (Chae et al., 2004b; Yoon et *al.*, 2008; Laurenzana *et al.*, 2015), highlighting a positive role of S1P in angiogenesis *in vivo*.

Angiogenic function of S1P/S1PR1 signalling was also demonstrated in mouse and zebrafish models. Both global and EC-specific S1pr1-knockout mice are embryonic lethal and die between E12.5 and E14.5, which initially was believed to be caused by incomplete vascular maturation with deficient coverage of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) and pericytes (Liu et al., 2000; Allende, Yamashita & Proia, 2003). Later detailed study suggested that the aortic VSMC phenotype occurs secondary to ectopic endothelial hyperplasia and vessel branching incompatible with embryonic survival. Furthermore, using the mouse retina model of angiogenesis together with S1PR1-specific agonist and antagonists in vivo, ex vivo and in vitro, multiple studies revealed that S1PR1/S1P signalling functions to protect developing vasculature from aberrant angiogenic hypersprouting through stabilizing junctional vascular endothelial (VE)-cadherin and inhibiting vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A)/VEGF receptor 2 (VEGFR2) signalling (Gaengel et al., 2012; Jung et al., 2012). Moreover, S1PR1, S1PR2 and S1PR3 work redundantly during vascular development, with S1PR1 being the most important (Kono et al., 2004). S1pr1/2/3 global triple-knockout mice show severe retinal vascular defects resembling the hypersprouting phenotype in angiogenesis, with concurrent global transcriptome alteration and defective retinal vascular EC-specific gene expression and differentiation, such as downregulation of a subset of Norrin/wingless-related integration site  $(Wnt)/\beta$ -catenin-regulated genes. Detailed analysis further reveals that S1P coordinates with VEGF to induce Jun B proto-oncogene (JunB) expression at the sprouting vascular front while acting with VE-cadherin to suppress JunB expression in the nascent vascular network. This generates a spatial gradient of JunB, a component of the activator protein 1 family of transcription factors, which in turn enables retinal EC specialization (Fig. 3B) (Yanagida et al., 2020). During both angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis, tip cells of ECs under laminar shear stress (LSS) transduced by the blood flow become guiescent and remodel into stable vessels. Note that during angiogenesis, in addition to blood-derived S1P, S1PR1 can also be activated by LSS and regulates VE-cadherin expression and the alignment of blood ECs in response to LSS (Jung et al., 2012). However, during lymphangiogenesis, S1PR1 is required neither for VE-cadherin expression nor for tip cell alignment, but antagonizes LSS-mediated VEGF-C/VEGFR3 signalling to prevent the sprouting of lymphatic vessels via regulating claudin-5 expression (Geng et al., 2020).

Notably, S1PR1/S1P also inhibits sprouting angiogenesis during limb vascular development either via the hypoxia/ VEGF axis or in a VEGF-independent manner (Chae et al., 2004a; Ben Shoham et al., 2012). Similarly, S1pr1 knockdown leads to hypersprouting of the caudal vein plexus whereas S1pr1 overexpression results in decreased sprouting in zebrafish (Ben Shoham et al., 2012; Mendelson et al., 2013). S1PR1 and VE-cadherin also cooperate to



<sup>(</sup>Figure legend continues on next page.)

inhibit VEGF-driven angiogenic sprouting and promote vascular stabilization in zebrafish (Gaengel *et al.*, 2012).

Similar to SPHKs, S1PRs participate in S1P-mediated bone development. S1PR1 and S1PR2 coordinate to induce skeletal mesenchymal cell migration through activation of the RhoA/ Janus kinase (JAK)/signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) and RhoA/focal adhesion kinase (FAK)/PI3K/ Akt signalling pathways, respectively (Quint *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, S1P promotes osteoclast precursor monocyte migration, dynamically controlling bone mineral homeostasis in mice. Osteoclast/monocyte-specific S1PR1-knockout mice showed osteoporotic changes with increased osteoclast deposition on the bone surface due to S1P-directed recirculation of osteoclast precursors from bone tissue to blood in response to altered chemotaxis (Fig. 4A) (Ishii *et al.*, 2009). S1PR1 also participates in cathepsin K-mediated bone formation in the mouse (Lotinun *et al.*, 2013).

Additionally, the S1P/S1PR1/3 axis functions in zebrafish pancreas morphogenesis by directing insulin endocrine progenitors to migrate, aggregate and form the islet (Serafimidis *et al.*, 2011). In the central nervous system, S1P promotes the proliferation of olfactory ensheathing cells *via* S1PR1/RhoA/Rho-associated coiled-coil containing protein kinase (ROCK)/yes-associated protein (YAP) signalling and participates in the formation of the olfactory system (Bao *et al.*, 2020).

#### (b) S1PR2

In contrast to S1PR1 and S1PR3 (Lee *et al.*, 1999), in most cases S1PR2 negatively mediates EC migration and capillary tube formation partly by inactivating Rac (Laurenzana *et al.*, 2015). Inhibition of platelet-derived growth factor-BB (PDGF-BB)-induced EC migration by the S1P/S1PR2/G<sub>i</sub> axis depends on lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 (LRP1) and is mediated *via* inhibiting Rac1 (Nakajima *et al.*, 2014). In zebrafish, as discussed above, S1PR2 functions together with SPNS2/S1PR1 in suppressing

angiogenic sprouting and promotes vascular stabilization (Mendelson *et al.*, 2013).

Interestingly, S1PR2 exerts a positive effect on myocardial migration during zebrafish heart tube formation, through activating RhoGEF/Arhgef11 and consequently, YAP1/TEA domain (TEAD)-mediated connective tissue growth factor a (CTGFa), as well as interacting with fibronectin (Hisano et al., 2013; Ye & Lin, 2013; Fukui et al., 2014). Specifically, the large tumor suppressor kinase (LATS)/YAP1/CTGFa signalling pathway required for cardiac precursor cell migration has been delineated elegantly by several lines of evidence: (i) depletion of YAP1 and the YAP1/TEAD target CTGFa showed the same cardia bifida phenotype; (ii) endodermal overexpression of LATS1/2-kinase-resistant nuclear-localized YAP1 rescued cardia bifida in spns2 and s1pr2 morphants; (iii) depletion of LATS1/2 rescued cardia bifida in S1pr2 and G13 morphants; (iv) yap1 mutants had a decreased expression of CTGFa and consequently enhanced endodermal cell apoptosis. Taken together, it has been proposed that SPNS2/S1PR2/G<sub>13</sub> signalling regulates cardiac precursor cell migration during zebrafish heart development by inhibiting LATS1/2, resulting in nuclear translocation of YAP1 that functions together with TEAD to promote *ctgfa* expression (Fukui et al., 2014). However, how fibronectin fits into the SPNS2/S1PR2/G13/YAP1 pathway still awaits further investigation. Similarly, S1PR2 also coordinates with YAP/CTGF in regulating pancreas development. S1PR2 signalling functions in endocrine specification and lineage allocation through Gi-mediated YAP stabilization and Notch attenuation, in turn partially activating CTGF which participates in regulating the survival of endocrine and acinar progenitors (Serafimidis et al., 2017). The role of S1PR2 in pancreas morphogenesis is further confirmed by an endocrine clustering defect upon treatment with a mouse S1PR2 agonist as well as endocrine progenitor cell loss due to reduced cell survival upon treatment with a S1PR2 antagonist (Serafimidis et al., 2011).

S1P/S1PR2 signalling is also required for apoptotic and live epithelial extrusion. In normal conditions, the apoptotic cell produces and secretes S1P at the basolateral

<sup>(</sup>Figure legend continued from previous page.)

**Fig 5.** Sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) receptor-mediated extracellular mode of S1P signalling. S1P binds with five different G protein-coupled receptors (S1PR1–5), each regulating a variety of downstream signalling pathways by coupling to different G proteins. These signalling pathways are directly linked to a series of cellular activities and are involved in the morphogenesis of various organs. Akt, protein kinase B; COX2, cyclooxygenase-2; CRMP2, collapsin response-mediated protein; EGF, epidermal growth factor; FAK, focal adhesion kinase;  $G_i$ ,  $G_q$  and  $G_{12/13}$ , heterotrimeric G protein alpha subunits; GSK3 $\beta$ , glycogen synthase kinase 3 $\beta$ ; HIF1 $\alpha$ , hypoxia inducible factor 1 subunit alpha; JAK, Janus kinase; JunB, Jun B proto-oncogene; LIMK, LIM kinase; LPR1, lipophorin receptor 1; Lrp5, lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5; LYVE-1, lymphatic vessel endothelial hyaluronan receptor 1; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; MEK, mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase; PGE2, prostaglandin E2; PI3K, phosphoinositide 3-kinase; PLC, phospholipase C; PPAR $\gamma$ , peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma; Rac, rat sarcoma (Ras)-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate; RANKL, receptor activator of NF-kB ligand; Ras, rat sarcoma; Rho, Ras homolog family member; RhoGEF, Ras homologous guanine nucleotide exchange factor; ROCK, Rho-associated coiled-coil containing protein kinase; SrcK, Src proto-oncogene kinase; STAT, signal transducer and activator of transcription; S1PR1–5, sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors 1–5; TEAD, TEA domain; VE, vascular endothelia; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; VEGFR2, vascular endothelial growth factor; VEGFR2, vascular endothelial growth factor; VEGFR2, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2; Wnt, wingless-related integration site; YAP1, yes-associated protein 1.

Biological Reviews 97 (2022) 251–272 © 2021 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

membrane that binds to S1PR2 on neighbouring cells, in turn, triggering Rho-mediated intercellular actomyosin contraction through p115 RhoGEF and squeezing the cell out apically. Similarly, in response to crowding stress, the stretch-activated channel Piezo1 triggers S1P-Rhomediated live cell extrusion (Gudipaty & Rosenblatt, 2017). Therefore, epithelia with disrupted S1P synthesis or lacking S1PR2 cannot extrude cells apically and shift extrusion basally instead, as demonstrated by both *in vitro* cultured cell lines and *in vivo* zebrafish epidermis (Gu *et al.*, 2011, 2015). S1P/S1PR2-mediated cell extrusion provides a potential mechanism not only for tumour cell progression and invasion, but also for epithelial morphogenesis through dynamic cell rearrangement and cell fate specification (Ohsawa, Vaughen & Igaki, 2018).

Consistent with S1P signalling in bone remodelling, and in contrast to S1PR1 mediating osteoclast progenitors to migrate towards S1P (i.e. directing positive chemotaxis towards S1P), S1PR2 acts to direct chemorepulsion away from S1P (Fig. 4A), therefore S1PR2-deficient mice exhibit decreased osteoclastic bone resorption and a reduced number of mature osteoclasts attached to the bone surface (Ishii et al., 2010). Moreover, despite the opposite effects of S1PR1 and S1PR2 on osteoclast migration, S1PR2-mediated S1P signalling exerts a net positive effect on bone formation, i.e. stimulates osteoblastogenesis at the expense of adipogenesis by inversely regulating osterix and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma$  (PPAR $\gamma$ ), and simultaneously inhibits osteoclastogenesis by inducing osteoprotegerin through the p38/glycogen synthase kinase  $3\beta$  (GSK3 $\beta$ )/ β-catenin and WNT5A/LRP5 pathways (Fig. 4B) (Weske et al., 2018, 2019). Most interestingly, S1PR2-mediated S1P signalling also inhibits differentiation of genuine adipose tissue stem cells, therefore *S1pr2* mice are osteopenic and obese (Weske et al., 2018, 2019).

*S1pr2* null mice are viable and fertile, whereas *S1pr2*;*S1pr3* double-null mice display marked perinatal lethality (Ishii *et al.*, 2002). Strikingly, both S1PR2 single- and surviving *S1pr2*;*S1pr3* double-null mice show a profound hearing loss phenotype with progressive loss of vestibular function and degeneration of inner ear structure, probably due to failure in S1PR2-induced blood supply to vasculature of stria vascularis in the inner ear (Herr *et al.*, 2007; Kono *et al.*, 2007), suggesting an important role of S1PR2 in the auditory system. In addition, S1PR2 shows redundancy with S1PR3 in murine eyelid development. Double, but not single, null mouse embryos show a defect in eyelid closure caused by a delay in epithelial sheet extension, likely due to attenuated EGF-mediated mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)/ERK1/2 signalling (Herr *et al.*, 2013).

#### (c) S1PR3

As discussed in Section III.2*a*, S1PR1 and S1PR3 function together to induce cell adhesion assembly and capillary-like network formation during angiogenesis through  $G_i/G_q/G_{13}$ -coupled and Rho/Rac-dependent signalling (Lee *et al.*, 1999). Moreover, S1PR3 colocalizes and cooperates with lymphatic

vessel endothelial hyaluronan receptor (LYVE-1) to promote proliferation and migration of ECs, and thereby lymphangiogenesis through low molecular weight hyaluronan (LMW-HA)-induced tyrosine phosphorylation of Src proto-oncogene (Src) kinase and ERK1/2 (Yu *et al.*, 2015). Most interestingly, a synthetic 9-amino acid peptide (KRX-725), derived from the second intracellular loop of S1PR3 can mimic the effects of S1P to induce G<sub>i</sub>-dependent ERK activation, and synergizes with protein angiogenic growth factor to promote sprout formation in angiogenesis through S1PR3-mediated G<sub>i</sub>-coupled mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase (MEK)/ERK signalling in *in vitro* (human ECs and VSMCs), *ex vivo* (mouse aortic rings) and *in vivo* (mouse corneal pocket) studies (Licht *et al.*, 2003).

S1pr3-null mice are viable, fertile and superficially normal (Ishii et al., 2001), however, 8-month-old S1pr3-deficient mice showed osteopenia and reduced bone formation (Keller et al., 2014). Moreover, S1pr3 deficiency abolishes the osteoanabolic effects of S1P in vitro and also in vivo in the context of murine hormone calcitonin receptor (CTR) deficiency or administration of the nonselective S1P receptor agonist FTY720, demonstrating that S1PR3-mediated S1P signalling acts downstream of hormone calcitonin (CT; inhibits S1P release from osteoclasts by suppressing SPNS2 expression) to regulate bone formation. S1PR3 exerts its function in part through initiating p38 and MEK1/ERK1/2-mediated induction of the downstream osteoclastogenic cytokine RANKL (Fig. 4B) (Ryu et al., 2006; Keller et al., 2014). S1pr2;S1pr3 double-null mice cannot survive through infancy and have profound structural and functional defects in the auditory system and eyelid (Ishii et al., 2002; Herr et al., 2007, 2013; Kono et al., 2007).

### (d) S1PR4

In CHO-K1 cells, S1P induces cell migration through cell surface-localized S1PR4 and Gi-mediated activation of CDC42 (Kohno et al., 2003). S1PR4 couples to both G<sub>i</sub> and  $G_{12/13}$  and induces the Rho-dependent pathway to regulate cytoskeleton rearrangement and cell shape in CHO-K1 cells and to regulate cell migration in Jurkat T cells (Graler et al., 2003). The coupling of S1PR4 with G<sub>i</sub> can also activate PLC (Graler et al., 2003) and the MAPK/ERK2 signal cascade (Van Brocklyn *et al.*, 2000).  $S1pr4^{-/-}$  mice are viable and fertile, but show an altered megakaryocyte morphology and defective platelet population in bone marrow. Together with in vitro observations of S1PR4 deficiency impeding proplatelet formation and S1PR4 overexpression promoting differentiation of human erythroleukemia cells to megakaryocytes, these data demonstrate a role of S1PR4 in terminal differentiation of megakaryocytes and repopulation of platelets (Golfier et al., 2010). S1PR4 together with S1PR1 is involved in S1P-induced cell migration in skeletal muscle precursor cells (Cencetti et al., 2014).

#### (e) S1PR5

S1PR5 is expressed in oligodendrocytes of postnatal mouse brain and is localized to myelinated fibres and the myelin sheath. During brain development, S1P/S1PR5 induces cell proliferation through the Gi-dependent MAP/ERK pathway and cell morphological changes through the Rho kinase-dependent ERK pathway in neural progenitor cells (cells that differentiate into neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes) (Harada et al., 2004), and regulates migration of oligodendrocytes and oligodendrocyte precursor cells through the G<sub>12/13</sub>-coupled Rho/ROCK signalling pathway (Novgorodov et al., 2007). S1P activation via S1PR5 induces process retraction of pre-oligodendrocytes in immature cells through a Rho kinase/collapsin response-mediated protein (CRMP2) signalling pathway and promotes the survival of mature oligodendrocytes through a pertussis toxin-sensitive Gi-protein-, Akt-dependent pathway (Jaillard et al., 2005). In the Xenopus laevis visual system, S1PR5/S1P mediates retinal axon guidance through activation of RhoA and LIM kinase (Strochlic et al., 2008).

Through targeting five GPCRs, S1P exerts diverse functions during the development of multiple organs (Fig. 5). In many instances, these receptors exhibit consistent and overlapping functions. For example, S1PR1/2/3 cooperate to suppress hypersprouting angiogenesis during maturation of the vascular system (Fig. 3) and to promote bone formation (osteoblastogenesis) in bone remodelling (Fig. 4). On the other hand, they show distinct and sometimes even opposing functions under other circumstances. For instance, S1PR1 and S1PR3 promote whereas S1PR2 inhibits cell migration in angiogenesis (Fig. 3). Another example is in bone resorption processes where S1PR1 and S1PR2 mediate osteoclast circulation in opposite directions and S1PR2 and S1PR3 regulate osteoclastogenesis in opposing ways (Fig. 4). Most strikingly, S1PR2 exerts diverse and interesting functions, such as stimulating osteoblastogenesis and inhibiting osteoclastogenesis during bone remodelling. One setting in which S1PR2 generates seemingly paradoxical outcomes is in cell migration: it promotes cell migration during early cardiac development, but suppresses cell migration associated with vascular development. S1PR4 and S1PR5 elicit signalling involved in cell migration, cell shape and proliferation in distinct cell types.

# IV. ROLE OF INTRACELLULAR S1P SIGNALLING IN ORGAN MORPHOGENESIS

S1P is also known as an intracellular signalling molecule, regulating cellular activities involved in organ development such as cell proliferation and cell apoptosis by targeting TNF receptor-associated factor 2 (TRAF2), heat shock protein 90 $\alpha$  (HSP90 $\alpha$ ), heat shock protein 90 $\beta$  family member 1 (GRP94), atypical protein kinase C (aPKC) and  $\beta$ -site amyloid precursor protein (APP) cleaving enzyme-1 (BACE1) and PPAR $\gamma$  in the cytoplasm, histone deacetylases (HDACs) and human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) in the nucleus, and prohibitin 2 (PHB2) in mitochondria (Fig. 2B).

#### (1) Cytoplasmic targets

# (a) TNF receptor-associated factor 2 (TRAF2), HSP90 $\alpha$ and GRP94

It has long been thought that TRAF2 interacts with SPHK1 to SPHK1 stimulate activity, which is required for TRAF2-mediated activation of NF-kB by TNFa signalling through S1P-specific GPCR-dependent extracellular S1P signalling (Xia et al., 2002). Surprisingly, SPHK1-generated S1P was shown to function intracellularly and independently of its cell surface GPCRs for TNF $\alpha$ -induced NF- $\kappa$ B activation. S1P acts as a cofactor for the E3 ubiquitin ligase TRAF2, binds to TRAF2 at the N-terminal RING domain and promotes TRAF2-mediated polyubiquitination of receptor interacting protein 1 (RIP1) at lysine-63, phosphorylation of inhibitor of nuclear factor kappa  $(I\kappa B)$ -kinase  $(IKK\alpha/\beta)$  and  $I\kappa B\alpha$ , as well as  $I\kappa B\alpha$  degradation (Alvarez et al., 2010). Furthermore, upon ER stress the S1P-TRAF2-RIP1 complex can associate with the stress-responsive proteins HSP90 $\alpha$ , GRP94 and ER to nucleus signalling 1 (IRE1 $\alpha$ ), and likely also with the E3 ubiquitin ligase STIP1 homology and U-box-containing protein 1 (STUB1) via HSP90 $\alpha$ , contributing to increased RIP1 polyubiquitination and activation of the NF-k pathway (Park et al., 2016). Similarly, S1P binds directly to the E3 ligase cellular inhibitor of apoptosis protein 2 (cIAP2) at the N-terminal RING domain and promotes IL-1-induced polyubiquitination of interferon regulatory factor 1 (IRF1) at lysine-63, which, in turn, activates a set of IRF1-responsive genes (Harikumar et al., 2014).

#### (b) Atypical protein kinase C (aPKC)

aPKC is one of the three PKC subtypes, previously thought to be regulated only by protein–protein interaction (Steinberg, 2008). It is composed of a regulatory domain (C1), catalytic domains (C3, C4) for substrate binding and Pseudo and PB1 domains at its amino terminal. Recently, *in vitro* study found that in Hela cells intracellular, but not GPCR-dependent extracellular, S1P activates aPKC by directly binding to its kinase domain, resulting in alleviation of autoinhibitory constraints. S1P-mediated aPKC activation protects cells from apoptosis (Kajimoto *et al.*, 2019).

### (c) $\beta$ -site amyloid precursor protein cleaving enzyme-1 (BACE1)

BACE1 is the enzyme for production of amyloid- $\beta$  peptide (A $\beta$ /APP) in the nervous system, which is the main cause of Alzheimer's disease. APP is normally endoproteolysed by  $\alpha$ -secretase to sAPP- $\alpha$ , with C83 later cleaved by  $\gamma$ -secretase to generate P3 and APP intracellular domain (AICD). However, under disease conditions, APP is endoproteolysed by BACE1 ( $\beta$ -secretase) to sAPP- $\beta$  and C99, and C99 then is cleaved by  $\gamma$ -secretase to generate A $\beta$  and AICD. Takasugi *et al.* (2011) demonstrated that S1P directly promotes BACE1 activity by binding to full-length BACE1, therefore either down-regulating SPHK1 or up-regulating S1PL in mice decreases BACE1 activity and consequently reduces

production of A $\beta$  (Takasugi *et al.*, 2011). *Sgpl1* deficiencyinduced S1P accumulation, in turn, impairs lysosomal degradation of APP and amyloidogenic C-terminal fragments, and this deficit can be partially restored by selective mobilization of Ca<sup>2+</sup> from ER or lysosomes (Karaca *et al.*, 2014). Together, components of S1P signalling could serve as promising therapeutic targets for Alzheimer's disease.

# (d) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARγ)

SPHK1-generated S1P can interact directly with the transcription factor PPAR $\gamma$  through binding of the phosphate head group of S1P with the residue His322 in the ligand binding pocket of PPAR $\gamma$ . S1P induces expression of PPAR $\gamma$ and enhances the interaction and nuclear translocation of PPAR $\gamma$  and its putative coactivator peroxisome proliferative activated receptor 1 $\beta$  (PGC1 $\beta$ ) in ECs. Both *in vitro* study and Matrigel assay reveal that S1P-mediated PPAR $\gamma$  activity contribute to tube formation in angiogenesis and vascular development (Parham *et al.*, 2015).

#### (2) Nuclear targets

#### (a) Histone deacetylases (HDACs)

HDAC1 and HDAC2 are direct targets of S1P. Nuclear SPHK2 and SPHK2-generated S1P directly binds with HDAC1 and HDAC2 in a co-repressor complex at the promoter regions of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21 or the transcriptional regulator c-Fos, inhibits HDACs, enhances acetylation of histone H3 and subsequently enhances transcription (Hait *et al.*, 2009). Reduced HDAC activity caused by nuclear S1P accumulation in *Sgpl1*-deficient mouse embryonic fibroblasts is also linked with dysregulation of Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis (Ihlefeld *et al.*, 2012).

Several lines of evidence have linked S1P-mediated inhibition of HDAC with the development and function of the central nervous system. (*i*) Sphk2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, with reduced levels of S1P and dihydro-S1P as well as histone acetylation in the hippocampus, exhibit a defect in memory function and contextual fear extinction, which can be rescued by the HDAC inhibitor suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (Hait *et al.*, 2014). (*ii*) Fingolimod (FTY720) can also be phosphorylated in mice, accumulates in the brain, binds and inhibits HDACs, enhances histone acetylation, regulates hippocampal memory-related gene expression and facilitates fear extinction in severe combined immunedeficient mice (Hait *et al.*, 2014). Taken together, these studies suggest that a nuclear S1P–HDAC axis plays an important role in nervous system development and function probably through epigenetic regulation of gene expression.

#### (b) Human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT)

SPHK2-generated S1P physically interacts with hTERT binding of the C' 3-OH group of S1P and the Asp684 residue of hTERT and colocalizes with lamin B at the nuclear periphery. Nuclear S1P–TERT binding allosterically mimics phosphorylation of hTERT at Ser921 and prevents ubiquitination and proteasome degradation of hTERT mediated by the E3 ubiquitin ligase makorin ring finger protein 1 (MKRN1). Therefore, S1P binding to hTERT contributes to telomerase-regulated biological functions, such as maintaining telomere integrity, promoting cell proliferation and delaying cellular senescence (Panneer Selvam *et al.*, 2015).

#### (3) Mitochondrial targets – prohibitin 2 (PHB2)

Strub et al. (2011) first identified that mitochondrial SPHK2-generated S1P has a high binding affinity for PHB2, but not PHB1. SPHK2/S1P forms complexes and colocalizes with PHB2 in the inner membrane of mitochondria. The mitochondrial SPHK2/S1P-PHB2 interaction acts as a chaperone to regulate the assembly of electron transport chain complex subunit IV of cytochrome-c oxidase and mitochondrial respiration in both Hela cells and cardiomyocytes from mouse heart (Strub et al., 2011). Furthermore, the mitochondrial SPHK2/ S1P-PHB2 interaction contributes to cardioprotection by modulating oxidative phosphorylation and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, thereby inhibiting permeability transition pore opening in preconditioning (Gomez et al., 2011). The mitochondrial SPHK2/S1P-PHB2 interaction is also implicated in protecting insulin-secreting cells against cytokine toxicity, since a S1P decrease resulting from S1PL overexpression increases the expression of PHB2, which in turn increases ATP generation and oxygen consumption rate, therefore preventing the cytokine-induced decrease in ATP levels and ER stress as well as apoptosis of insulin-secreting  $\beta$ -cells (Hahn *et al.*, 2017).

Thus, emerging evidence indicates that S1P is a *bona fide* second messenger participating in cellular events involved in organ development. Given that SPHKs translocate between different cellular compartments, local S1P production may enable its binding with specific intracellular targets, thus exerting distinct cellular functions.

# V. ROLE OF S1P-MEDIATED VESICULAR TRAFFICKING IN ORGAN MORPHOGENESIS

In addition to the signalling action of S1P either through GPCRs or intracellular targets, a more specific link of SPHKs and S1P with vesicular trafficking has emerged (Fig. 2C). In the *C. elegans* nervous system, SPHK1 is recruited to presynaptic membranes where locally generated S1P regulates both exocytosis (release of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine) and endocytosis (synaptic vesicle recycling) (Chan, Hu & Sieburth, 2012). SPHK1 enrichment at synaptic terminals is regulated by the muscarinic signalling pathway consisting of the muscarinic acetylcholine receptor GAR-3, the heterotrimeric G protein  $G_q$ , and its effector, TrioRhoGEF, in a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent manner involving calcium and integrin binding protein (Chan *et al.*, 2012; Chan & Sieburth, 2012). Moreover, wild-type human and *C. elegans* SPHK1, but not a membrane-binding mutant of *C. elegans* (SPHK1V268Q), can

rescue the neurotransmission defects of *sphk1*-mutant worms, corroborating a conserved role of SPHK1-dependent local conversion of sphingosine to S1P in vesicular trafficking (Shen *et al.*, 2014). Consistently, SPHK1 is targeted to N-terminal bin/amphiphysin/Rvs (N-BAR) protein-positive endocytic tubular invaginations upon perturbation of the cholesterol/sphingomyelin balance in the plasma membrane in COS-7 and Hela cells. SPHK1 is also enriched in Ras-related protein (Rab5)-positive endocytic intermediates in Hela cells, at synapses in cultured hippocampal neurons and photoreceptor cells in mouse retina (Shen *et al.*, 2014). Sphingosine or sphingosine-like SPHK1 inhibitors induce a massive endosomal flux forming enlarged endosomes in multiple cell lines and mouse embryonic fibroblasts (Young *et al.*, 2016; Lima, Milstien & Spiegel, 2017).

SPHK1/S1P-mediated endocytic trafficking also converges with autophagy- and lysosome-mediated degradation, as demonstrated by the observations that (i) decreased conversion of sphingosine to S1P causes disruption of autophagosome-lysosome fusion (Kajimoto et al., 2013) and defects in clearance of enlarged endosomes (Lima et al., 2017); (ii) the autophagic machinery coordinates with lysosome biogenesis to clear enlarged late endosomes in response to SPHK1 inhibition in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (Young et al., 2016); (iii) SPHK1 enhances autophagy biogenesis and function, and autophagy, in turn, stimulates SPHK1 relocalization to endosome/autophagosomes in neurons (Moruno Manchon et al., 2016). Furthermore, in D. melanogaster photoreceptors, deficiency in SPHK1 and overexpression of SPHK2 result in increased dihydrosphingosine 1 phosphate (DHS1P) levels relative to S1P, which in turn affects endolysosomal trafficking of the G proteincoupled receptor rhodopsin and the transient receptor potential (TRP) channel and retinal degeneration in photoreceptors (Yonamine *et al.*, 2011). Given the recognized role of endosomal/lysosomal trafficking in epithelial and neuron polarity, S1P-mediated membrane dynamics and trafficking is expected to contribute directly to organ morphogenesis.

# VI. CONCLUSIONS

- (1) We are now beginning to understand the molecular mechanisms by which S1P exerts its function in organ morphogenesis. In contrast to the intracellular functions of S1P where S1P metabolic enzymes determine S1P activity directly, S1P extracellular activity is finetuned through successive actions of transporters and receptors. Indeed, in many cases that have been investigated in detail recently such as cardiac precursor cell migration, angiogenesis and bone remodelling, orchestrated actions of almost every component along the S1P/SPHK/SPNS2/S1PR signalling axis and receptor subtype-specific effects are required to ensure normal development and tissue homeostasis.
- (2) S1P activity is tightly controlled to maintain the balance between osteoclast-mediated bone resorption

and osteoblast-mediated bone formation (Fig. 4). Firstly, at the level of abundance regulated by SPHK/S1PL, S1P activity suppresses osteoclastogenesis and stimulates osteoblastogenesis. Secondly, at the level of S1P extracellular or intracellular activity mediated by SPNS2, extracellular S1P potentiates osteoclast differentiation by acting on osteoblasts and intracellular S1P attenuates osteoclast differentiation. Thirdly, at the level of cell type-dependent S1PRdirected precise adjustments, while S1PR1/2/3 coordinate to promote osteoblastogenesis, S1PR1 and S1PR2 direct osteoclast progenitor migration in opposing directions, and S1PR2 and S1PR3 exert antagonistic effects on osteoclastogenesis.

- (3) Future studies must continue to define the comprehensive list of regulators by which cells modulate S1P abundance and compartmentalization. In contrast to the 'bulk' presence of structural components such as glycosphingolipids and sphingomyelins, S1P exists in extremely small quantities, therefore the cell requires a mechanism to sense and respond to subtle variations in S1P in the cytosol and subcellular pools. Some such growth factors, compounds, cytokines and proteins have been identified and described above, however, these probably only represent the tip of the iceberg. Obtaining the full spectrum of regulatory mechanisms will be important to understanding the system-level regulation of S1P signalling.
- (4) It remains unclear how distinct transporters and receptors act in concert to transduce signals when multiple components are present simultaneously. It is unlikely that this occurs randomly, but rather is likely to take place under tight regulation. Characterization of the nature of these connections will be critical to understanding the properties and precision of finetuning S1P signalling.
- (5) Recent findings that HDAC1/2 are targets of S1P in the nucleus are exciting. Although further research is needed to consolidate these new findings, it is interesting to consider future prospects. Elucidating the molecular mechanisms underlying S1P-mediated inhibition of HDAC1/2 would provide insights into the role of S1P signalling in cellular behaviours and organ development through epigenetic regulation of gene expression. Another interesting avenue to explore may be the possibility of using S1P and its mimetics as an HDAC1/2 inhibitor for the treatment of HDAC1/2-associated diseases.
- (6) Despite the identification of multiple intracellular targets, our understanding of the intracellular targets of S1P remains rudimentary. In particular, what are the intracellular targets of S1P in organisms such as *D. melanogaster* and *C. elegans* where no extracellular mode for S1P is expected? Investigation of S1P signalling in these organisms may provide unique insights into S1P regulation and function.
- (7) A handful of S1P agonists and antagonists has been identified to interfere with S1P function in organ

morphogenesis. Regardless of whether attention is targeted at the level of enzymes, lipid products or receptors, more S1P signalling-based drugs could be explored and considered as promising therapeutic interventions for the treatment of diseases, especially given that S1P is a small molecule that can be administered directly.

#### VII. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Profs Chuxia Deng (University of Macau) and Hong Zhang (Chinese Academy of Sciences) for their careful review and insightful comments. Work in our laboratory is supported by the Science and Technology Development Fund, Macao S.A.R. (FDCT) projects 018/2017/AMJ, 050/2018/A2 and 0136/2020/A3, Multi-Year Research Grant of University of Macau (MYRG) projects 2017-00082-FHS, 2019-00063-FHS and 2020-00163-FHS.

#### **VIII. REFERENCES**

- ALLENDE, M. L., SIPE, L. M., TUYMETOVA, G., WILSON-HENJUM, K. L., CHEN, W. & PROIA, R. L. (2013). Sphingosine-1-phosphate phosphatase 1 regulates keratinocyte differentiation and epidermal homeostasis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 288, 18381–18391.
- ALLENDE, M. L., YAMASHITA, T. & PROIA, R. L. (2003). G-protein-coupled receptor S1P1 acts within endothelial cells to regulate vascular maturation. *Blood* 102, 3665– 3667.
- ALVAREZ, S. E., HARIKUMAR, K. B., HAIT, N. C., ALLEGOOD, J., STRUB, G. M., KIM, E. Y., MACEYKA, M., JIANG, H., LUO, C., KORDULA, T., MILSTIEN, S. & SPIEGEL, S. (2010). Sphingosine-1-phosphate is a missing cofactor for the E3 ubiquitin ligase TRAF2. *Nature* **465**, 1084–1088.
- BALCZERSKI, B., MATSUTANI, M., CASTILLO, P., OSBORNE, N., STAINIER, D. Y. & CRUMP, J. G. (2012). Analysis of sphingosine-1-phosphate signaling mutants reveals endodermal requirements for the growth but not dorsoventral patterning of jaw skeletal precursors. *Developmental Biology* 362, 230–241.
- BAO, X., XU, X., WU, Q., ZHANG, J., FENG, W., YANG, D., LI, F., LU, S., LIU, H., SHEN, X., ZHANG, F., XIE, C., WU, S., LV, Z., WANG, W., et al. (2020). Sphingosine 1-phosphate promotes the proliferation of olfactory ensheathing cells through YAP signaling and participates in the formation of olfactory nerve layer. *Glia* 68, 1757–1774.
- BEN SHOHAM, A., MALKINSON, G., KRIEF, S., SHWARTZ, Y., ELY, Y., FERRARA, N., YANIV, K. & ZELZER, E. (2012). S1P1 inhibits sprouting angiogenesis during vascular development. *Development* 139, 3859–3869.
- BEYER, S., SCHWALM, S., PFEILSCHIFTER, J. & HUWILER, A. (2018). Renal mesangial cells isolated from sphingosine kinase 2 transgenic mice show reduced proliferation and are more sensitive to stress-induced apoptosis. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry* 47, 2522–2533.
- BIAN, G., YU, C., LIU, L., FANG, C., CHEN, K., REN, P., ZHANG, Q., LIU, F., ZHANG, K., XUE, Q., XIANG, J., GUO, H., SONG, J., ZHAO, Y., WU, W., et al. (2018). Sphingosine 1-phosphate stimulates eyelid closure in the developing rat by stimulating EGFR signaling. *Science Signaling* 11, eaat1470.
- BIONDA, C., PORTOUKALIAN, J., SCHMITT, D., RODRIGUEZ-LAFRASSE, C. & ARDAIL, D. (2004). Subcellular compartmentalization of ceramide metabolism: MAM (mitochondria-associated membrane) and/or mitochondria? *Biochemical Journal* 382, 527–533.
- BRESLOW, D. K. & WEISSMAN, J. S. (2010). Membranes in balance: mechanisms of sphingolipid homeostasis. *Molecular Cell* 40, 267–279.
- CARTIER, A. & HLA, T. (2019). Sphingosine 1-phosphate: lipid signaling in pathology and therapy. *Science* 366, eaar5551.
- CARTWRIGHT, T. A., CAMPOS, C. R., CANNON, R. E. & MILLER, D. S. (2013). Mrpl is essential for sphingolipid signaling to p-glycoprotein in mouse blood-brain and blood-spinal cord barriers. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism* 33, 381–388.
- CENCETTI, F., BRUNO, G., BLESCIA, S., BERNACCHIONI, C., BRUNI, P. & DONATI, C. (2014). Lysophosphatidic acid stimulates cell migration of satellite

cells. A role for the sphingosine kinase/sphingosine 1-phosphate axis. The FEBS *Journal* 281, 4467–4478.

- CHAE, S. S., PAIK, J. H., ALLENDE, M. L., PROIA, R. L. & HLA, T. (2004a). Regulation of limb development by the sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor S1p1/EDG-1 occurs via the hypoxia/VEGF axis. *Developmental Biology* 268, 441–447.
- CHAE, S.-S., PAIK, J.-H., FURNEAUX, H. & HLA, T. (2004b). Requirement for sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor-1 in tumor angiogenesis demonstrated by in vivo RNA interference. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* **114**, 1082–1089.
- CHAN, J. P., HU, Z. & SIEBURTH, D. (2012). Recruitment of sphingosine kinase to presynaptic terminals by a conserved muscarinic signaling pathway promotes neurotransmitter release. *Genes & Development* 26, 1070–1085.
- CHAN, J. P. & SIEBURTH, D. (2012). Localized sphingolipid signaling at presynaptic terminals is regulated by calcium influx and promotes recruitment of priming factors. *Journal of Neuroscience* 32, 17909–17920.
- CHEN, J., INGHAM, N., KELLY, J., JADEJA, S., GOULDING, D., PASS, J., MAHAJAN, V. B., TSANG, S. H., NIJNIK, A., JACKSON, I. J., WHITE, J. K., FORGE, A., JAGGER, D. & STEEL, K. P. (2014). Spinster homolog 2 (spns2) deficiency causes early onset progressive hearing loss. *PLoS Genetics* 10, e1004688.
- CUVILLIER, O., PIRIANOV, G., KLEUSER, B., VANEK, P. G., COSO, O. A., GUTKIND, S. & SPIEGEL, S. (1996). Suppression of ceramide-mediated programmed cell death by sphingosine-1-phosphate. *Nature* 381, 800–803.
- DING, G., SONODA, H., YU, H., KAJIMOTO, T., GOPARAJU, S. K., JAHANGEER, S., OKADA, T. & NAKAMURA, S. (2007). Protein kinase D-mediated phosphorylation and nuclear export of sphingosine kinase 2. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282, 27493–27502.
- DON, A. S. & ROSEN, H. (2009). A lipid binding domain in sphingosine kinase 2. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 380, 87–92.
- ESCALANTE-ALCALDE, D., HERNANDEZ, L., LE STUNFF, H., MAEDA, R., LEE, H. S., JR GANG, C., SCIORRA, V. A., DAAR, I., SPIEGEL, S., MORRIS, A. J. & STEWART, C. L. (2003). The lipid phosphatase LPP3 regulates extra-embryonic vasculogenesis and axis patterning. *Development* 130, 4623–4637.
- FU, P., EBENEZER, D. L., BERDYSHEV, E. V., BRONOVA, I. A., SHAAYA, M., HARIJITH, A. & NATARAJAN, V. (2016). Role of sphingosine kinase 1 and S1P transporter Spns2 in HGF-mediated lamellipodia formation in lung endothelium. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 291, 27187–27203.
- FUKUI, H., TERAI, K., NAKAJIMA, H., CHIBA, A., FUKUHARA, S. & MOCHIZUKI, N. (2014). S1P-Yap1 signaling regulates endoderm formation required for cardiac precursor cell migration in zebrafish. *Developmental Cell* **31**, 128–136.
- FUTERMAN, A. H. & RIEZMAN, H. (2005). The ins and outs of sphingolipid synthesis. Trends in Cell Biology 15, 312–318.
- GAENGEL, K., NIAUDET, C., HAGIKURA, K., LAVINA, B., MUHL, L., HOFMANN, J. J., EBARASI, L., NYSTROM, S., RYMO, S., CHEN, L. L., PANG, M. F., JIN, Y., RASCHPERCER, E., ROSWALL, P., SCHULTE, D., et al. (2012). The sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor S1PR1 restricts sprouting angiogenesis by regulating the interplay between VE-cadherin and VEGFR2. Developmental Cell 23, 587–599.
- GENG, X., YANAGIDA, K., AKWII, R. G., CHOI, D., CHEN, L., HO, Y., CHA, B., MAHAMUD, M. R., BERMAN DE RUIZ, K., ICHISE, H., CHEN, H., WYTHE, J. D., MIKELIS, C. M., HLA, T. & SRINIVASAN, R. S. (2020). S1PR1 regulates the quiescence of lymphatic vessels by inhibiting laminar shear stress-dependent VEGF-C signaling. *JCI Insight* 5, e137652.
- GIUSSANI, P., MACEYKA, M., LE STUNFF, H., MIKAMI, A., LEPINE, S., WANG, E., KELLY, S., MERRILL, A. H. JR., MILSTIEN, S. & SPIEGEL, S. (2006). Sphingosinel-phosphate phosphohydrolase regulates endoplasmic reticulum-to-golgi trafficking of ceramide. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 26, 5055–5069.
- GOLFIER, S., KONDO, S., SCHULZE, T., TAKEUCHI, T., VASSILEVA, G., ACHTMAN, A. H., GRALER, M. H., ABBONDANZO, S. J., WIEKOWSKI, M., KREMMER, E., ENDO, Y., LIRA, S. A., BACON, K. B. & LIPP, M. (2010). Shaping of terminal megakaryocyte differentiation and proplatelet development by sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor S1P4. *The FASEB Journal* 24, 4701–4710.
- GOMEZ, L., PAILLARD, M., PRICE, M., CHEN, Q., TEIXEIRA, G., SPIEGEL, S. & LESNEFSKY, E. J. (2011). A novel role for mitochondrial sphingosine-1-phosphate produced by sphingosine kinase-2 in PTP-mediated cell survival during cardioprotection. *Basic Research in Cardiology* **106**, 1341–1353.
- GRALER, M. H., GROSSE, R., KUSCH, A., KREMMER, E., GUDERMANN, T. & LIPP, M. (2003). The sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor S1P4 regulates cell shape and motility via coupling to G<sub>i</sub> and G<sub>12/13</sub>. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry* **89**, 507–519.
- GRATSCHEV, D., LOF, C., HEIKKILA, J., BJORKBOM, A., SUKUMARAN, P., HINKKANEN, A., SLOTTE, J. P. & TORNQUIST, K. (2009). Sphingosine kinase as a regulator of calcium entry through autocrine sphingosine 1-phosphate signaling in thyroid FRTL-5 cells. *Endocrinology* **150**, 5125–5134.
- GU, Y., FOROSTYAN, T., SABBADINI, R. & ROSENBLATT, J. (2011). Epithelial cell extrusion requires the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 2 pathway. *Journal of Cell Biology* 193, 667–676.
- GU, Y., SHEA, J., SLATTUM, G., FIRPO, M. A., ALEXANDER, M., MULVIHILL, S. J., GOLUBOVSKAYA, V. M. & ROSENBLATT, J. (2015). Defective apical extrusion signaling contributes to aggressive tumor hallmarks. *Elife* 4, e04069.

- GUDIPATY, S. A. & ROSENBLATT, J. (2017). Epithelial cell extrusion: pathways and pathologies. Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology 67, 132–140.
- HAGEN, N., HANS, M., HARTMANN, D., SWANDULLA, D. & VAN ECHTEN-DECKERT, G. (2011). Sphingosine-1-phosphate links glycosphingolipid metabolism to neurodegeneration via a calpain-mediated mechanism. *Cell Death & Differentiation* 18, 1356–1365.
- HAHN, C., TYKA, K., SABA, J. D., LENZEN, S. & GURGUL-CONVEY, E. (2017). Overexpression of sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase protects insulin-secreting cells against cytokine toxicity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 292, 20292–20304.
- HAIT, N. C., ALLEGOOD, J., MACEYKA, M., STRUB, G. M., HARIKUMAR, K. B., SINGH, S. K., LUO, C., MARMORSTEIN, R., KORDULA, T., MILSTIEN, S. & SPIEGEL, S. (2009). Regulation of histone acetylation in the nucleus by sphingosine-1-phosphate. *Science* **325**, 1254–1257.
- HAIT, N. C., WISE, L. E., ALLEGOOD, J. C., O'BRIEN, M., AVNI, D., REEVES, T. M., KNAPP, P. E., LU, J., LUO, C., MILES, M. F., MILSTIEN, S., LICHTMAN, A. H. & SPIEGEL, S. (2014). Active, phosphorylated fingolimod inhibits histone deacetylases and facilitates fear extinction memory. *Nature Neuroscience* 17, 971–980.
- HANNUN, Y. A. & OBEID, L. M. (2008). Principles of bioactive lipid signalling: lessons from sphingolipids. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 9, 139–150.
- HANNUN, Y. A. & OBEID, L. M. (2018). Sphingolipids and their metabolism in physiology and disease. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 19, 175–191.
- HARADA, J., FOLEY, M., MOSKOWITZ, M. A. & WAEBER, C. (2004). Sphingosinel-phosphate induces proliferation and morphological changes of neural progenitor cells. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 88, 1026–1039.
- HARIKUMAR, K. B., YESTER, J. W., SURACE, M. J., OYENIRAN, C., PRICE, M. M., HUANG, W. C., HAIT, N. C., ALLEGOOD, J. C., YAMADA, A., KONG, X., LAZEAR, H. M., BHARDWAJ, R., TAKABE, K., DIAMOND, M. S., LUO, C., et al. (2014). K63-linked polyubiquitination of transcription factor IRF1 is essential for IL-1-induced production of chemokines CXCL10 and CCL5. *Nature Immunology* 15, 231–238.
- HERR, D. R., FYRST, H., PHAN, V., HEINECKE, K., GEORGES, R., HARRIS, G. L. & SABA, J. D. (2003). Sply regulation of sphingolipid signaling molecules is essential for *Drosophila* development. *Development* 130, 2443–2453.
- HERR, D. R., GRILLET, N., SCHWANDER, M., RIVERA, R., MULLER, U. & CHUN, J. (2007). Sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) signaling is required for maintenance of hair cells mainly via activation of S1P2. *Journal of Neuroscience* 27, 1474–1478.
- HERR, D. R., LEE, C. W., WANG, W., WARE, A., RIVERA, R. & CHUN, J. (2013). Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors are essential mediators of eyelid closure during embryonic development. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 288, 29882–29889.
- HISANO, Y., INOUE, A., OKUDAIRA, M., TAIMATSU, K., MATSUMOTO, H., KOTANI, H., OHGA, R., AOKI, J. & KAWAHARA, A. (2015). Maternal and zygotic sphingosine kinase 2 are indispensable for cardiac development in zebrafish. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **290**, 14841–14851.
- HISANO, Y., KOBAYASHI, N., KAWAHARA, A., YAMAGUCHI, A. & NISHI, T. (2011). The sphingosine 1-phosphate transporter, SPNS2, functions as a transporter of the phosphorylated form of the immunomodulating agent FTY720. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 286, 1758–1766.
- HISANO, Y., KOBAYASHI, N., YAMAGUCHI, A. & NISHI, T. (2012). Mouse SPNS2 functions as a sphingosine-1-phosphate transporter in vascular endothelial cells. *PLoS One* 7, e38941.
- HISANO, Y., OTA, S., TAKADA, S. & KAWAHARA, A. (2013). Functional cooperation of spns2 and fibronectin in cardiac and lower jaw development. *Biology Open* 2, 789–794.
- HONIG, S. M., FU, S., MAO, X., YOPP, A., GUNN, M. D., RANDOLPH, G. J. & BROMBERG, J. S. (2003). FTY720 stimulates multidrug transporter- and cysteinyl leukotriene-dependent T cell chemotaxis to lymph nodes. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 111, 627–637.
- HUANG, W. C., LIANG, J., NAGAHASHI, M., AVNI, D., YAMADA, A., MACEYKA, M., WOLEN, A. R., KORDULA, T., MILSTIEN, S., TAKABE, K., ORAVECZ, T. & SPIEGEL, S. (2016). Sphingosine-1-phosphate phosphatase 2 promotes disruption of mucosal integrity, and contributes to ulcerative colitis in mice and humans. *The FASEB Journal* **30**, 2945–2958.
- HUWILER, A. & ZANGEMEISTER-WITTKE, U. (2018). The sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor modulator fingolimod as a therapeutic agent: recent findings and new perspectives. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 185, 34–49.
- IHLEFELD, K., CLAAS, R. F., KOCH, A., PFEILSCHIFTER, J. M. & MEYER ZU HERINGDORF, D. (2012). Evidence for a link between histone deacetylation and Ca<sup>2</sup>+ homoeostasis in sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase-deficient fibroblasts. *Biochemical Journal* 447, 457–464.
- IKEDA, M., KIHARA, A. & IGARASHI, Y. (2004). Sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase SPL is an endoplasmic reticulum-resident, integral membrane protein with the pyridoxal 5'-phosphate binding domain exposed to the cytosol. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **325**, 338–343.
- INAGAKI, Y., LI, P.-Y., WADA, A., MITSUTAKE, S. & IGARASHI, Y. (2003). Identification of functional nuclear export sequences in human sphingosine kinase 1. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 311, 168–173.

- ISHII, I., FRIEDMAN, B., YE, X., KAWAMURA, S., MCGIFFERT, C., CONTOS, J. J., KINGSBURY, M. A., ZHANG, G., BROWN, J. H. & CHUN, J. (2001). Selective loss of sphingosine 1-phosphate signaling with no obvious phenotypic abnormality in mice lacking its G protein-coupled receptor, LP(B3)/EDG-3. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276, 33697–33704.
- ISHII, I., YE, X., FRIEDMAN, B., KAWAMURA, S., CONTOS, J. J., KINGSBURY, M. A., YANG, A. H., ZHANG, G., BROWN, J. H. & CHUN, J. (2002). Marked perinatal lethality and cellular signaling deficits in mice null for the two sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) receptors, S1P(2)/LP(B2)/EDG-5 and S1P(3)/LP(B3)/EDG-3. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277, 25152–25159.
- ISHII, M., EGEN, J. G., KLAUSCHEN, F., MEIER-SCHELLERSHEIM, M., SAEKI, Y., VACHER, J., PROIA, R. L. & GERMAIN, R. N. (2009). Sphingosine-1-phosphate mobilizes osteoclast precursors and regulates bone homeostasis. *Nature* 458, 524–528.
- ISHII, M., KIKUTA, J., SHIMAZU, Y., MEIER-SCHELLERSHEIM, M. & GERMAIN, R. N. (2010). Chemorepulsion by blood S1P regulates osteoclast precursor mobilization and bone remodeling in vivo. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 207, 2793–2798.
- JAILLARD, C., HARRISON, S., STANKOFF, B., AIGROT, M. S., CALVER, A. R., DUDDY, G., WALSH, F. S., PANGALOS, M. N., ARIMURA, N., KAIBUCHI, K., ZALC, B. & LUBETZKI, C. (2005). Edg8/S1P5: an oligodendroglial receptor with dual function on process retraction and cell survival. *Journal of Neuroscience* 25, 1459–1469.
- JAPTOK, L., SCHAPER, K., BÄUMER, W., RADEKE, H. H., JEONG, S. K. & KLEUSER, B. (2012). Sphingosine 1-phosphate modulates antigen capture by murine Langerhans cells via the S1P2 receptor subtype. *PLoS One* 7, e49427.
- JARMAN, K. E., MORETTI, P. A., ZEBOL, J. R. & PITSON, S. M. (2010). Translocation of sphingosine kinase 1 to the plasma membrane is mediated by calcium- and integrin-binding protein 1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 285, 483–492.
- JOHNSON, K. R., JOHNSON, K. Y., BECKER, K. P., BIELAWSKI, J., MAO, C. & OBEID, L. M. (2003). Role of human sphingosine-1-phosphate phosphatase 1 in the regulation of intra- and extracellular sphingosine-1-phosphate levels and cell viability. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278, 34541–34547.
- JUNG, B., OBINATA, H., GALVANI, S., MENDELSON, K., DING, B. S., SKOURA, A., KINZEL, B., BRINKMANN, V., RAFII, S., EVANS, T. & HLA, T. (2012). Flowregulated endothelial S1P receptor-1 signaling sustains vascular development. *Developmental Cell* 23, 600–610.
- KAI, M., SAKANE, F., JIA, Y. J., IMAI, S., YASUDA, S. & KANOH, H. (2006). Lipid phosphate phosphatases 1 and 3 are localized in distinct lipid rafts. *Journal of Biochemistry* 140, 677–686.
- KAJIMOTO, T., CALIMAN, A. D., TOBIAS, I. S., OKADA, T., PILO, C. A., VAN, A. N., ANDREW MCCAMMON, J., NAKAMURA, S. I. & NEWTON, A. C. (2019). Activation of atypical protein kinase C by sphingosine 1-phosphate revealed by an aPKC-specific activity reporter. *Science Signaling* 12, eaat6662.
- KAJIMOTO, T., OKADA, T., MIYA, S., ZHANG, L. & NAKAMURA, S. (2013). Ongoing activation of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors mediates maturation of exosomal multivesicular endosomes. *Nature Communications* 4, 2712.
- KARACA, I., TAMBOLI, I. Y., GLEBOV, K., RICHTER, J., FELL, L. H., GRIMM, M. O., HAUPENTHAL, V. J., HARTMANN, T., GRÂLER, M. H., VAN ECHTEN-DECKERT, G. & WALTER, J. (2014). Deficiency of sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase impairs lysosomal metabolism of the amyloid precursor protein. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 289, 16761–16772.
- KASE, H., HATTORI, Y., JOJIMA, T., OKAYASU, T., TOMIZAWA, A., SUZUKI, K., BANBA, N., MONDEN, T., SATOH, H., AKIMOTO, K. & KASAI, K. (2007). Globular adiponectin induces adhesion molecule expression through the sphingosine kinase pathway in vascular endothelial cells. *Life Sciences* 81, 939–943.
- KAWAHARA, A., NISHI, T., HISANO, Y., FUKUI, H., YAMAGUCHI, A. & MOCHIZUKI, N. (2009). The sphingolipid transporter spns2 functions in migration of zebrafish myocardial precursors. *Science* 323, 524–527.
- KELLER, J., CATALA-LEHNEN, P., HUEBNER, A. K., JESCHKE, A., HECKT, T., LUETH, A., KRAUSE, M., KOEHNE, T., ALBERS, J., SCHULZE, J., SCHILLING, S., HABERLAND, M., DENNINGER, H., NEVEN, M., HERMANS-BORGMEYER, I., et al. (2014). Calcitonin controls bone formation by inhibiting the release of sphingosine 1-phosphate from osteoclasts. *Nature Communications* 5, 5215.
- KIHARA, A., SANO, T., IWAKI, S. & IGARASHI, Y. (2003). Transmembrane topology of sphingoid long-chain base-1-phosphate phosphatase, Lcb3p. *Genes to Cells* 8, 525–535.
- KOBAYASHI, N., KAWASAKI-NISHI, S., OTSUKA, M., HISANO, Y., YAMAGUCHI, A. & NISHI, T. (2018). MFSD2B is a sphingosine 1-phosphate transporter in crythroid cells. *Scientific Reports* 8, 4969.
- KOBAYASHI, N., KOBAYASHI, N., YAMAGUCHI, A. & NISHI, T. (2009). Characterization of the ATP-dependent sphingosine 1-phosphate transporter in rat erythrocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 284, 21192–21200.
- KOHNO, T., MATSUYUKI, H., INAGAKI, Y. & IGARASHI, Y. (2003). Sphingosine 1-phosphate promotes cell migration through the activation of Cdc42 in Edg-6/S1P4-expressing cells. *Genes to Cells* 8, 685–697.

- KONO, M., BELYANTSEVA, I. A., SKOURA, A., FROLENKOV, G. I., STAROST, M. F., DREIER, J. L., LIDINGTON, D., BOLZ, S. S., FRIEDMAN, T. B., HLA, T. & PROIA, R. L. (2007). Deafness and stria vascularis defects in S1P2 receptor-null mice. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282, 10690–10696.
- KONO, M., MI, Y., LIU, Y., SASAKI, T., ALLENDE, M. L., WU, Y. P., YAMASHITA, T. & PROIA, R. L. (2004). The sphingosine-1-phosphate receptors S1P1, S1P2, and S1P3 function coordinately during embryonic angiogenesis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279, 29367–29373.
- KUNKEL, G. T., MACEYKA, M., MILSTIEN, S. & SPIEGEL, S. (2013). Targeting the sphingosine-1-phosphate axis in cancer, inflammation and beyond. *Nature Reviews* Drug Discover 12, 688–702.
- KUPPERMAN, E., AN, S., OSBORNE, N., WALDRON, S. & STAINIER, D. Y. (2000). A sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor regulates cell migration during vertebrate heart development. *Nature* 406, 192–195.
- LAURENZANA, A., CENCETTI, F., SERRATI, S., BRUNO, G., JAPTOK, L., BIANCHINI, F., TORRE, E., FIBBI, G., DEL ROSSO, M., BRUNI, P. & DONATI, C. (2015). Endothelial sphingosine kinase/SPNS2 axis is critical for vessel-like formation by human mesoangioblasts. *Journal of Molecular Medicine* 93, 1145–1157.
- LE STUNFF, H., PETERSON, C., LIU, H., MILSTIEN, S. & SPIEGEL, S. (2002). Sphingosine-1-phosphate and lipid phosphohydrolases. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids **1582**, 8–17.
- LEE, M. J., THANGADA, S., CLAFFEY, K. P., ANCELLIN, N., LIU, C. H., KLUK, M., VOLPI, M., SHA'AFI, R. I. & HLA, T. (1999). Vascular endothelial cell adherens junction assembly and morphogenesis induced by sphingosine-1-phosphate. *Cell* 99, 301–312.
- LICHT, T., TSIRULNIKOV, L., REUVENI, H., YARNITZKY, T. & BEN-SASSON, S. A. (2003). Induction of pro-angiogenic signaling by a synthetic peptide derived from the second intracellular loop of S1P3 (EDG3). *Blood* **102**, 2099–2107.
- LIMA, S., MILSTIEN, S. & SPIEGEL, S. (2017). Sphingosine and sphingosine kinase 1 involvement in endocytic membrane trafficking. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 292, 3074–3088.
- LIMAYE, V., LI, X., HAHN, C., XIA, P., BERNDT, M. C., VADAS, M. A. & GAMBLE, J. R. (2005). Sphingosine kinase-1 enhances endothelial cell survival through a PECAM-1-dependent activation of PI-3K/Akt and regulation of Bcl-2 family members. *Blood* **105**, 3169–3177.
- LIU, H., TOMAN, R. E., GOPARAJU, S. K., MACEYKA, M., NAVA, V. E., SANKALA, H., PAYNE, S. G., BEKTAS, M., ISHII, I., CHUN, J., MILSTIEN, S. & SPIEGEL, S. (2003). Sphingosine kinase type 2 is a putative BH3-only protein that induces apoptosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278, 40330–40336.
- LIU, Y., WADA, R., YAMASHITA, T., MI, Y., DENG, C. X., HOBSON, J. P., ROSENFELDT, H. M., NAVA, V. E., CHAE, S. S., LEE, M. J., LIU, C. H., HLA, T., SPIEGEL, S. & PROIA, R. L. (2000). Edg-1, the G protein-coupled receptor for sphingosine-1-phosphate, is essential for vascular maturation. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* **106**, 951–961.
- LOTINUN, S., KIVIRANTA, R., MATSUBARA, T., ALZATE, J. A., NEFF, L., LUTH, A., KOSKIVIRTA, I., KLEUSER, B., VACHER, J., VUORIO, E., HORNE, W. C. & BARON, R. (2013). Osteoclast-specific cathepsin K deletion stimulates S1Pdependent bone formation. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* **123**, 666–681.
- MACEYKA, M., ALVAREZ, S. E., MILSTIEN, S. & SPIEGEL, S. (2008). Filamin a links sphingosine kinase 1 and sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 1 at lamellipodia to orchestrate cell migration. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 28, 5687–5697.
- MACEYKA, M., HARIKUMAR, K. B., MILSTIEN, S. & SPIEGEL, S. (2012). Sphingosine-1-phosphate signaling and its role in disease. *Trends in Cell Biology* 22, 50–60.
- MACEYKA, M. & SPIEGEL, S. (2014). Sphingolipid metabolites in inflammatory disease. *Nature* 510, 58–67.
- MASUDA, H. & ASAHARA, T. (2003). Post-natal endothelial progenitor cells for neovascularization in tissue regeneration. *Cardiovascular Research* 58, 390–398.
- MATRONE, G., MENG, S., GU, Q., LV, J., FANG, L., CHEN, K. & COOKE, J. P. (2017). Lmo2 (LIM-domain-only 2) modulates Sphk1 (sphingosine kinase) and promotes endothelial cell migration. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 37, 1860– 1868.
- MCGUIRE, P. G., RANGASAMY, S., MAESTAS, J. & DAS, A. (2011). Pericyte derived sphinogosine 1-phosphate induces the expression of adhesion proteins and modulates the retinal endothelial cell barrier. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 31, e107–e115.
- MENDEL, J., HEINECKE, K., FYRST, H. & SABA, J. D. (2003). Sphingosine phosphate lyase expression is essential for normal development in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Journal* of *Biological Chemistry* 278, 22341–22349.
- MENDELSON, K., EVANS, T. & HLA, T. (2014). Sphingosine 1-phosphate signalling. Development 141, 5–9.
- MENDELSON, K., ZYGMUNT, T., TORRES-VAZQUEZ, J., EVANS, T. & HLA, T. (2013). Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor signaling regulates proper embryonic vascular patterning. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 288, 2143–2156.
- MICHAUD, J., KOHNO, M., PROIA, R. L. & HLA, T. (2006). Normal acute and chronic inflammatory responses in sphingosine kinase 1 knockout mice. *FEBS Letters* 580, 4607–4612.

- MITRA, P., OSKERITZIAN, C. A., PAYNE, S. G., BEAVEN, M. A., MILSTIEN, S. & SPIEGEL, S. (2006). Role of ABCC1 in export of sphingosine-1-phosphate from mast cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 103, 16394–16399.
- MIZUGISHI, K., YAMASHITA, T., OLIVERA, A., MILLER, G. F., SPIEGEL, S. & PROIA, R. L. (2005). Essential role for sphingosine kinases in neural and vascular development. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 25, 11113–11121.
- MORUNO MANCHON, J. F., UZOR, N. E., FINKBEINER, S. & TSVETKOV, A. S. (2016). SPHK1/sphingosine kinase 1-mediated autophagy differs between neurons and SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells. *Autophagy* **12**, 1418–1424.
- NAKAJIMA, C., HAFFNER, P., GOERKE, S. M., ZURHOVE, K., ADELMANN, G., FROTSCHER, M., HERZ, J., BOCK, H. H. & MAY, P. (2014). The lipoprotein receptor LRP1 modulates sphingosine-1-phosphate signaling and is essential for vascular development. *Development* 141, 4513–4525.
- NAKANAGA, K., HAMA, K., KANO, K., SATO, T., YUKIURA, H., INOUE, A., SAIGUSA, D., TOKUYAMA, H., TOMIOKA, Y., NISHINA, H., KAWAHARA, A. & AOKI, J. (2014). Overexpression of autotaxin, a lysophosphatidic acidproducing enzyme, enhances cardia bifida induced by hypo-sphingosinel-phosphate signaling in zebrafish embryo. *Journal of Biochemistry* 155, 235–241.
- NIEUWENHUIS, B., LUTH, A., CHUN, J., HUWILER, A., PFEILSCHIFTER, J., SCHAFER-KORTING, M. & KLEUSER, B. (2009). Involvement of the ABCtransporter ABCC1 and the sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor subtype S1P(3) in the cytoprotection of human fibroblasts by the glucocorticoid dexamethasone. *Journal of Molecular Medicine* 87, 645–657.
- NOVGORODOV, A. S., EL-ALWANI, M., BIELAWSKI, J., OBEID, L. M. & GUDZ, T. I. (2007). Activation of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor S1P5 inhibits oligodendrocyte progenitor migration. *The FASEB Journal* 21, 1503–1514.
- OGRETMEN, B. (2018). Sphingolipid metabolism in cancer signalling and therapy. Nature Reviews Cancer 18, 33–50.
- OHSAWA, S., VAUGHEN, J. & IGAKI, T. (2018). Cell extrusion: a stress-responsive force for good or evil in epithelial homeostasis. *Developmental Cell* **44**, 532.
- OKADA, T., DING, G., SONODA, H., KAJIMOTO, T., HAGA, Y., KHOSROWBEYGI, A., GAO, S., MIWA, N., JAHANGEER, S. & NAKAMURA, S. (2005). Involvement of N-terminal-extended form of sphingosine kinase 2 in serum-dependent regulation of cell proliferation and apoptosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280, 36318–36325.
- OKASHAH, N., WAN, Q., GHOSH, S., SANDHU, M., INOUE, A., VAIDEHI, N. & LAMBERT, N. A. (2019). Variable G protein determinants of GPCR coupling selectivity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 116, 12054–12059.
- OLIVERA, A., KOHAMA, T., EDSALL, L., NAVA, V., CUVILLIER, O., POULTON, S. & SPIEGEL, S. (1999). Sphingosine kinase expression increases intracellular sphingosine-1-phosphate and promotes cell growth and survival. *Journal of Cell Biology* 147, 545–558.
- OSBORNE, N., BRAND-ARZAMENDI, K., OBER, E. A., JIN, S. W., VERKADE, H., HOLTZMAN, N. G., YELON, D. & STAINIER, D. Y. (2008). The spinster homolog, two of hearts, is required for sphingosine 1-phosphate signaling in zebrafish. *Current Biology* 18, 1882–1888.
- PANCHATCHARAM, M., MIRIYALA, S., SALOUS, A., WHEELER, J., DONG, A., MUELLER, P., SUNKARA, M., ESCALANTE-ALCALDE, D., MORRIS, A. J. & SMYTH, S. S. (2013). Lipid phosphate phosphatase 3 negatively regulates smooth muscle cell phenotypic modulation to limit intimal hyperplasia. *Arteriosclerosis*, *Thrombosis*, and Vascular Biology 33, 52–59.
- PANCHATCHARAM, M., SALOUS, A. K., BRANDON, J., MIRIYALA, S., WHEELER, J., PATIL, P., SUNKARA, M., MORRIS, A. J., ESCALANTE-ALCALDE, D. & SMYTH, S. S. (2014). Mice with targeted inactivation of ppap2b in endothelial and hematopoietic cells display enhanced vascular inflammation and permeability. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 34, 837–845.
- PANNEER SELVAM, S., DE PALMA, R. M., OAKS, J. J., OLEINIK, N., PETERSON, Y. K., STAHELIN, R. V., SKORDALAKES, E., PONNUSAMY, S., GARRETT-MAYER, E., SMITH, C. D. & OGRETMEN, B. (2015). Binding of the sphingolipid S1P to hTERT stabilizes telomerase at the nuclear periphery by allosterically mimicking protein phosphorylation. *Science Signaling* 8, ra58.
- PARHAM, K. A., ZEBOL, J. R., TOOLEY, K. L., SUN, W. Y., MOLDENHAUER, L. M., COCKSHELL, M. P., GLIDDON, B. L., MORETTI, P. A., TIGYI, G., PITSON, S. M. & BONDER, C. S. (2015). Sphingosine 1-phosphate is a ligand for peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ that regulates neoangiogenesis. *The FASEB Journal* 29, 3638–3653.
- PARK, K., IKUSHIRO, H., SEO, H. S., SHIN, K.-O., KIM, Y. I., KIM, J. Y., LEE, Y.-M., YANO, T., HOLLERAN, W. M., ELLAS, P. & UCHIDA, Y. (2016). ER stress stimulates production of the key antimicrobial peptide, cathelicidin, by forming a previously unidentified intracellular SIP signaling complex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 113, E1334.
- PHAN, V. H., HERR, D. R., PANTON, D., FYRST, H., SABA, J. D. & HARRIS, G. L. (2007). Disruption of sphingolipid metabolism elicits apoptosis-associated reproductive defects in *Drosophila*. *Developmental Biology* **309**, 329–341.

- PITSON, S. M., MORETTI, P. A., ZEBOL, J. R., LYNN, H. E., XIA, P., VADAS, M. A. & WATTENBERG, B. W. (2003). Activation of sphingosine kinase 1 by ERK1/2-mediated phosphorylation. *The EMBO Journal* 22, 5491–5500.
- PROIA, R. L. & HLA, T. (2015). Emerging biology of sphingosine-1-phosphate: its role in pathogenesis and therapy. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 125, 1379–1387.
- PYNE, N. J. & PYNE, S. (2010). Sphingosine 1-phosphate and cancer. Nature Reviews Cancer 10, 489–503.
- PYNE, S., ADAMS, D. R. & PYNE, N. J. (2016). Sphingosine l-phosphate and sphingosine kinases in health and disease: recent advances. *Progress in Lipid Research* 62, 93–106.
- QUINT, P., RUAN, M., PEDERSON, L., KASSEM, M., WESTENDORF, J. J., KHOSLA, S. & OURSLER, M. J. (2013). Sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) receptors 1 and 2 coordinately induce mesenchymal cell migration through S1P activation of complementary kinase pathways. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 288, 5398–5406.
- RAFII, S. & LYDEN, D. (2003). Therapeutic stem and progenitor cell transplantation for organ vascularization and regeneration. *Nature Medicine* 9, 702–712.
- RYU, J., KIM, H. J., CHANG, E. J., HUANG, H., BANNO, Y. & KIM, H. H. (2006). Sphingosine 1-phosphate as a regulator of osteoclast differentiation and osteoclastosteoblast coupling. *The EMBO Journal* 25, 5840–5851.
- SANCHEZ, T. & HLA, T. (2004). Structural and functional characteristics of S1P receptors. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry* 92, 913–922.
- SATO, K., MALCHINKHUU, E., HORIUCHI, Y., MOGI, C., TOMURA, H., TOSAKA, M., YOSHIMOTO, Y., KUWABARA, A. & OKAJIMA, F. (2007). Critical role of ABCA1 transporter in sphingosine 1-phosphate release from astrocytes. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 103, 2610–2619.
- SCHWALM, S., PFEILSCHIFTER, J. & HUWILER, A. (2010). Sphingosine kinase 1 is critically involved in nitric oxide-mediated human endothelial cell migration and tube formation. *British Journal of Pharmacology* **160**, 1641–1651.
- SCHWALM, S., TIMCHEVA, T. M., FILIPENKO, I., EBADI, M., HOFMANN, L. P., ZANGEMEISTER-WITTKE, U., PFEILSCHIFTER, J. & HUWILER, A. (2015). Sphingosine kinase 2 deficiency increases proliferation and migration of renal mouse mesangial cells and fibroblasts. *Biological Chemistry* 396, 813–825.
- SERAFIMIDIS, I., HEXIMER, S., BEIS, D. & GAVALAS, A. (2011). G protein-coupled receptor signaling and sphingosine-1-phosphate play a phylogenetically conserved role in endocrine pancreas morphogenesis. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 31, 4442–4453.
- SERAFIMIDIS, I., RODRIGUEZ-AZNAR, E., LESCHE, M., YOSHIOKA, K., TAKUWA, Y., DAHL, A., PAN, D. & GAVALAS, A. (2017). Pancreas lineage allocation and specification are regulated by sphingosine-1-phosphate signalling. *PLoS Biology* 15, e2000949.
- SHEN, H., GIORDANO, F., WU, Y., CHAN, J., ZHU, C., MILOSEVIC, I., WU, X., YAO, K., CHEN, B., BAUMGART, T., SIEBURTH, D. & DE CAMILLI, P. (2014). Coupling between endocytosis and sphingosine kinase 1 recruitment. *Nature Cell Biology* 16, 652–662.
- SIEHLER, S. & MANNING, D. R. (2002). Pathways of transduction engaged by sphingosine 1-phosphate through G protein-coupled receptors. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1582, 94–99.
- SONG, D. D., ZHANG, T. T., CHEN, J. L., XIA, Y. F., QIN, Z. H., WAEBER, C. & SHENG, R. (2017). Sphingosine kinase 2 activates autophagy and protects neurons against ischemic injury through interaction with Bcl-2 via its putative BH3 domain. *Cell Death & Disease* 8, e2912.
- SPIEGEL, S., FOSTER, D. & KOLESNICK, R. (1996). Signal transduction through lipid second messengers. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* 8, 159–167.
- SPIEGEL, S. & MILSTIEN, S. (2003). Sphingosine-1-phosphate: an enigmatic signalling lipid. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 4, 397–407.
- SPIEGEL, S. & MILSTIEN, S. (2007). Functions of the multifaceted family of sphingosine kinases and some close relatives. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282, 2125–2129.
- SPIEGEL, S. & MILSTIEN, S. (2011). The outs and the ins of sphingosine-1-phosphate in immunity. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 11, 403–415.
- STEINBERG, S. F. (2008). Structural basis of protein kinase C isoform function. *Physiological Reviews* 88, 1341–1378.
- STROCHLIC, L., DWIVEDY, A., VAN HORCK, F. P., FALK, J. & HOLT, C. E. (2008). A role for S1P signalling in axon guidance in the *Xenopus* visual system. *Development* 135, 333–342.
- STRUB, G. M., PAILLARD, M., LIANG, J., GOMEZ, L., ALLEGOOD, J. C., HAIT, N. C., MACEYKA, M., PRICE, M. M., CHEN, Q., SIMPSON, D. C., KORDULA, T., MILSTIEN, S., LESNEFSKY, E. J. & SPIEGEL, S. (2011). Sphingosine-1-phosphate produced by sphingosine kinase 2 in mitochondria interacts with prohibitin 2 to regulate complex IV assembly and respiration. *The FASEB Journal* 25, 600–612.
- TAGUCHI, Y., ALLENDE, M. L., MIZUKAMI, H., COOK, E. K., GAVRILOVA, O., TUYMETOVA, G., CLARKE, B. A., CHEN, W., OLIVERA, A. & PROIA, R. L. (2016). Sphingosine-1-phosphate phosphatase 2 regulates pancreatic islet beta-cell endoplasmic reticulum stress and proliferation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 291, 12029–12038.
- TAKABE, K., KIM, R. H., ALLEGOOD, J. C., MITRA, P., RAMACHANDRAN, S., NAGAHASHI, M., HARIKUMAR, K. B., HAIT, N. C., MILSTIEN, S. & SPIEGEL, S. (2010). Estradiol induces export of sphingosine 1-phosphate from breast cancer cells via ABCC1 and ABCG2. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 285, 10477–10486.

- TAKABE, K., PAUGH, S. W., MILSTIEN, S. & SPIEGEL, S. (2008). "Inside-out" signaling of sphingosine-1-phosphate: therapeutic targets. *Pharmacological Reviews* 60, 181–195.
- TAKASUGI, N., SASAKI, T., SUZUKI, K., OSAWA, S., ISSHIKI, H., HORI, Y., SHIMADA, N., HIGO, T., YOKOSHIMA, S., FUKUYAMA, T., LEE, V. M., TROJANOWSKI, J. Q., TOMITA, T. & IWATSUBO, T. (2011). BACE1 activity is modulated by cell-associated sphingosine-1-phosphate. *Journal of Neuroscience* **31**, 6850–6857.
- VAN BROCKLYN, J. R., GRALER, M. H., BERNHARDT, G., HOBSON, J. P., LIPP, M. & SPIEGEL, S. (2000). Sphingosine-1-phosphate is a ligand for the G protein-coupled receptor EDG-6. *Blood* 95, 2624–2629.
- VANDEKEERE, S., DEWERCHIN, M. & CARMELLET, P. (2015). Angiogenesis revisited: an overlooked role of endothelial cell metabolism in vessel sprouting. *Microcirculation* 22, 509–517.
- VOGEL, P., DONOVIEL, M. S., READ, R., HANSEN, G. M., HAZLEWOOD, J., ANDERSON, S. J., SUN, W., SWAFFIELD, J. & ORAVECZ, T. (2009). Incomplete inhibition of sphingosine 1-phosphate lyase modulates immune system function yet prevents early lethality and non-lymphoid lesions. *PLoS One* 4, e4112.
- VU, T. M., ISHIZU, A. N., FOO, J. C., TOH, X. R., ZHANG, F., WHEE, D. M., TORTA, F., CAZENAVE-GASSIOT, A., MATSUMURA, T., KIM, S., TOH, S. E. S., SUDA, T., SILVER, D. L., WENK, M. R. & NGUYEN, L. N. (2017). Mfsd2b is essential for the sphingosine-1-phosphate export in erythrocytes and platelets. *Nature* 550, 524–528.
- WANG, F., VAN BROCKLYN, J. R., HOBSON, J. P., MOVAFAGH, S., ZUKOWSKA-GROJEC, Z., MILSTIEN, S. & SPIEGEL, S. (1999). Sphingosine 1-phosphate stimulates cell migration through a G(i)-coupled cell surface receptor. Potential involvement in angiogenesis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274, 35343–35350.
- WANG, R., DING, Q., DE ASSUNCAO, T. M., MOUNAJJED, T., MAIERS, J. L., DOU, C., CAO, S., YAQOOB, U., HUEBERT, R. C. & SHAH, V. H. (2017). Hepatic stellate cell selective disruption of dynamin-2 GTPase increases murine fibrogenesis through upregulation of sphingosine-1 phosphate-induced cell migration. *The American Journal of Pathology* 187, 134–145.
- WANG, R., DING, Q., YAQOOB, U., DE ASSUNCAO, T. M., VERMA, V. K., HIRSOVA, P., CAO, S., MUKHOPADHYAY, D., HUEBERT, R. C. & SHAH, V. H. (2015). Exosome adherence and internalization by hepatic stellate cells triggers sphingosine 1-phosphate-dependent migration. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 290, 30684–30696.
- WANG, Z., ZHENG, Y., WANG, F., ZHONG, J., ZHAO, T., XIE, Q., ZHU, T., MA, F., TANG, Q., ZHOU, B. & ZHU, J. (2020). Mfsd2a and Spns2 are essential for sphingosine-1-phosphate transport in the formation and maintenance of the bloodbrain barrier. *Science Advances* 6, eaay8627.
- WENDLER, C. C. & RIVKEES, S. A. (2006). Sphingosine-1-phosphate inhibits cell migration and endothelial to mesenchymal cell transformation during cardiac development. *Developmental Biology* **291**, 264–277.
- WESKE, S., VAIDYA, M., REESE, A., VON WNUCK LIPINSKI, K., KEUL, P., BAYER, J. K., FISCHER, J. W., FLÖGEL, U., NELSEN, J., EPPLE, M., SCATENA, M., SCHWEDHELM, E., DÖRR, M., VÖLZKE, H., MORITZ, E., et al. (2018). Targeting sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase as an anabolic therapy for bone loss. *Nature Medicine* 24, 667–678.
- WESKE, S., VAIDYA, M., VON WNUCK LIPINSKI, K., KEUL, P., MANTHE, K., BURKHART, C., HABERHAUER, G., HEUSCH, G. & LEVKAU, B. (2019). Agonistinduced activation of the S1P receptor 2 constitutes a novel osteoanabolic therapy for the treatment of osteoporosis in mice. *Bone* 125, 1–7.
- XIA, P., GAMBLE, J. R., RYE, K. A., WANG, L., HII, C. S., COCKERILL, P., KHEW-GOODALL, Y., BERT, A. G., BARTER, P. J. & VADAS, M. A. (1998). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces adhesion molecule expression through the sphingosine kinase pathway. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **95**, 14196–14201.
- XIA, P., WANG, L., MORETTI, P. A., ALBANESE, N., CHAI, F., PITSON, S. M., D'ANDREA, R. J., GAMBLE, J. R. & VADAS, M. A. (2002). Sphingosine kinase interacts with TRAF2 and dissects tumor necrosis factor-alpha signaling. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277, 7996–8003.
- XIONG, Y., YANG, P., PROIA, R. L. & HLA, T. (2014). Erythrocyte-derived sphingosine 1-phosphate is essential for vascular development. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 124, 4823–4828.
- YANAGIDA, K., ENGELBRECHT, E., NIAUDET, C., JUNG, B., GAENGEL, K., HOLTON, K., SWENDEMAN, S., LIU, C. H., LEVESQUE, M. V., KUO, A., FU, Z., SMITH, L. E. H., BETSHOLTZ, C. & HLA, T. (2020). Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor signaling establishes AP-1 gradients to allow for retinal endothelial cell specialization. *Developmental Cell* **52**, 779–793.
- YE, D. & LIN, F. (2013). S1pr2/Galpha13 signaling controls myocardial migration by regulating endoderm convergence. *Development* 140, 789–799.
- YONAMINE, I., BAMBA, T., NIRALA, N. K., JESMIN, N., KOSAKOWSKA-CHOLODY, T., NAGASHIMA, K., FUKUSAKI, E., ACHARYA, J. K. & ACHARYA, U. (2011). Sphingosine kinases and their metabolites modulate endolysosomal trafficking in photoreceptors. *Journal of Cell Biology* **192**, 557–567.
- Yoon, C. M., Hong, B. S., Moon, H. G., Lim, S., Suh, P. G., Kim, Y. K., Chae, C. B. & Gho, Y. S. (2008). Sphingosine-1-phosphate promotes

lymphangiogenesis by stimulating S1P1/G<sub>i</sub>/PLC/Ca2+ signaling pathways. *Blood* **112**, 1129–1138.

- YOUNG, M. M., TAKAHASHI, Y., FOX, T. E., YUN, J. K., KESTER, M. & WANG, H. G. (2016). Sphingosine kinase 1 cooperates with autophagy to maintain endocytic membrane trafficking. *Cell Reports* 17, 1532–1545.
- YU, M., ZHANG, H., LIU, Y., HE, Y., YANG, C., DU, Y., WU, M., ZHANG, G. & GAO, F. (2015). The cooperative role of S1P3 with LYVE-1 in LMW-HA-induced lymphangiogenesis. *Experimental Cell Research* 336, 150–157.
- YUE, J., YOKOYAMA, K., BALAZS, L., BAKER, D. L., SMALLEY, D., PILQUIL, C., BRINDLEY, D. N. & TIGYI, G. (2004). Mice with transgenic overexpression of lipid phosphate phosphatase-1 display multiple organotypic deficits without alteration in circulating lysophosphatidate level. *Cellular Signalling* 16, 385–399.
- ZHANG, N., SUNDBERG, J. P. & GRIDLEY, T. (2000). Mice mutant for Ppap2c, a homolog of the germ cell migration regulator wunen, are viable and fertile. *Genesis* 27, 137–140.

(Received 10 December 2020; revised 11 September 2021; accepted 16 September 2021; published online 28 September 2021)